

National Industry Pension Fund Summary Plan Description

Effective January 1, 2024

SEIU National Industry Pension Fund

Mailing Address P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	Physical Address 1800 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 301 Washington, DC 20036-1216	
Website	Email	
seiufunds.org	info@seiufunds.org	
Telephone Assistance Toll-Free: (800) 458-1010 Washington, DC National Office: (202) 730-7500		
	stees	
UnionEmplMegan SweeneyEdward J. MJaime ContrerasChristopher BoEfrain EliasThomas E. LaMaApril VerrettFrank A. MaDavid HuertaJohn J. She		
SEIU Benefit Funds	Legal Counsel	
Eunice Washington Executive Director and Counsel	Bredhoff & Kaiser, PLLC Meyer, Unkovic & Scott, LLP	
Michael Shelton Assistant Executive Director		
Auditor Calibre CPA Group, PLLC	Consultant and Actuary Segal	

Introduction

The National Industry Pension Fund ("NIPF," "Pension Plan," "Plan" or "Fund") is designed to work with your Social Security benefits, your personal savings and investments to provide you with income when you retire. The Plan is provided at no cost to you – it is funded by employer contributions.

This Pension Plan is a "defined benefit" retirement plan. This means that the amount of your pension benefit is generally based on the number of years you work for an employer who contributes to the Plan and on the amount your employer contributes to the Plan on your behalf.

The Plan must manage the investment of contributions prudently on behalf of all **Participants** and beneficiaries. The Plan must maintain the level of your retirement benefit that you have earned to date and that is payable at **Normal Retirement Age**. This means, for example, that the benefits you have earned in this Pension Plan generally have greater protections than retirement savings have in a 401(k) plan. In a 401(k) plan, you bear the risk of investment decisions and, if investment markets perform poorly, the value of your benefit can drop close to, and even after, retirement.

This Summary Plan Description ("SPD") gives you a summary of your Pension Plan as of January 1, 2024. It describes the rules in effect for persons who have a pension Effective Date on or after January 1, 2024. The rules for persons who retired before January 1, 2024 may differ from those described in this summary.

Note on Plan Changes Effective January 1, 2010

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 ("PPA") added requirements for measuring the financial health of multiemployer plans such as ours. Starting with the 2008 plan year, the PPA requires that a pension plan's actuary annually determine the plan's status under these new rules and certify that status to the IRS and to the Trustees. If the actuary determines that the plan is in "endangered" status (known as the "yellow zone") or "critical" status (known as the "red zone"), the Trustees must notify all Plan **Participants** and the bargaining parties, and take corrective action to restore the financial health of the plan.

In March 2009, the Pension Plan's actuary certified that the SEIU National Industry Pension Fund was in critical status (the red zone), and a notice to that effect was sent to Plan **Participants**. As required under the PPA, the Trustees adopted a Rehabilitation Plan in November 2009. A Rehabilitation Plan is an action plan designed to restore the Pension Plan to financial health, and can include provisions for changes in contribution rates and benefits payable under the Plan. The Plan must maintain the level of your retirement benefit that you have earned to date and that is payable at **Normal Retirement Age**.

This SPD includes the changes adopted by the Trustees in the Rehabilitation Plan. It describes the rules in effect under the Rehabilitation Plan for persons who work on or after January 1, 2010, or who have a pension Effective Date on or after January 1, 2010.

The Plan continues to make scheduled improvements to its financial health under the Rehabilitation Plan.

The Rehabilitation Plan calls for contributing employers to make Supplemental Contributions to the Pension Plan for a period of time to protect your benefits and strengthen the Plan. These Supplemental Contributions do not apply toward the calculation of your benefit. The Trustees have adopted two schedules of Supplemental Contributions that bargaining parties could adopt. If the *Preferred Schedule* was adopted, it maintains the benefits described in this SPD. If the *Default Schedule* was adopted, the benefit accrual rate drops to 1% of contributions on contributions made for work under the *Default Schedule*, and disability benefits are not subsidized. Details are provided in the "Retirement Benefits" section of this SPD.

Each year, the Trustees must review the Plan's progress under the Rehabilitation Plan. In determining whether any additional changes to contributions or benefits are warranted, the Trustees are obligated to maintain the level of your retirement benefit that you have earned to date and that is payable at *Normal Retirement Age*.

We have made every effort to include important details about the Plan in this SPD. The Pension Plan Document sets forth the complete Plan terms and governs your rights under the Plan. It is available at the SEIU Benefit Funds office.

We encourage you to read this Summary Plan Description carefully and share it with your spouse, *Spousal Equivalent* or beneficiary. It's important that you, your spouse, *Spousal Equivalent* or beneficiary understand how the Plan works. On page 1 is a list of important terms, including brief descriptions of those terms, used in this SPD; wherever those terms are used in this SPD, they will be shown in *Bold Italics*. If you have questions about the Plan, call the SEIU Benefit Funds office toll-free at (800) 458-1010.

This Summary Plan Description summarizes important features of the Plan. If there are any differences between this Summary Plan Description and the Pension Plan Document, the Pension Plan Document will control. Please note that interpretations regarding participation in the Plan, eligibility for benefits, the status of any employers and employees, or any other matters relating to the Pension Plan should only be obtained from the Board of Trustees through the SEIU Benefit Funds office. The Board is not obligated by, responsible for or bound by opinions, information or representations from other sources, including individual Trustees.

Table of Contents

Terms You Should Know	1
At-a-Glance: What Happens When	4
How You Earn Service	9
Earning Future Service Pension Credits	9
Earning Past Service Pension Credit	10
Earning Vesting Credits	11
If You Leave Employment	13
Leaving Employment Before Vesting	13
Leaving Employment After Vesting	14
Portability Agreements	15
If You Get Married or Divorced	16
Marriage Before Retirement	16
Marriage After Retirement	16
Divorce Before Retirement	16
Divorce After Retirement	16
QDRO Procedures	17
Applying for Your Pension Benefits	18
When You Start Your Pension Affects Your Benefit	18
How to Apply for a Pension	18
Participants that Die During the Applications Process	19
If Your Application Is Denied	21
Appeal Procedure	22
Retirement Benefits	24
Eligibility for a Pension	24
Benefit Options	24
Your Accrued Benefit – For Service On or After January 1, 2008	24
Your Accrued Benefit – For Service Prior to January 1, 2008	27

Normal Retirement Pension	33
Early Retirement Pension	34
Disability Benefits	35
Pension Payment Options	37
Small Benefit Payment	45
How Working After Reaching Retirement Age Affects Your Benefits	
Before Your Pension Payments Begin	
After Your Pension Payments Begin	
Resuming Pension Payments After a Suspension	
Recalculating Your Benefits After a Suspension	48
Death Benefits	49
Naming a Beneficiary	49
Applying for Death Benefits	
If You Die Before Your Pension Payments Begin	
If You Die After Your Pension Payments Begin	51
Administrative Information	52
Insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation	57
Insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation	
Insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits	59
Your ERISA Rights	59 59
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits	59 59 59
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries	59 59 59 59
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights. Assistance with Your Questions.	59 59 59 59
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights	59 59 59 59 60
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights. Assistance with Your Questions. Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan	59 59 59 60
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights. Assistance with Your Questions. Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers	59 59 59 60 61
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights Assistance with Your Questions Assistance with Your Questions Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers Building Service Employees Pension Plan	59 59 59 60 61 61 63
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights Assistance with Your Questions Assistance with Your Questions Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers Building Service Employees Pension Plan Detroit Window Cleaning Division, Service Employees Local 79 Pension Fund	
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights Assistance with Your Questions Assistance with Your Questions Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers Building Service Employees Pension Plan Detroit Window Cleaning Division, Service Employees Local 79 Pension Fund Jewelry Workers Division Pension Plan	
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights Assistance with Your Questions Assistance with Your Questions Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers Building Service Employees Pension Plan Detroit Window Cleaning Division, Service Employees Local 79 Pension Fund Jewelry Workers Division Pension Plan Pension Plan for Service Employees of Michigan Race Tracks	
Your ERISA Rights Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries Enforce Your Rights Assistance with Your Questions Assistance with Your Questions Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers Building Service Employees Pension Plan Detroit Window Cleaning Division, Service Employees Local 79 Pension Fund Jewelry Workers Division Pension Plan. Pension Plan for Service Employees of Michigan Race Tracks Pittsburgh Building Employees Pension Plan.	

St. Moritz Building Services Employees Pension Plan	65
Service Employees International Union Local 49 Pension Plan	65
Window Cleaners, Local 48 Cleaning Contractors Pension Plan	66

Appendix B: Benefit Table Formula	67
Benefit Table Formula – Monthly Benefits	67

Terms You Should Know

The following are important terms used in this Summary Plan Description. Each term is described briefly, with page references, if applicable, to the section of this Summary Plan Description where more detailed information is provided.

50% Spousal Pension. This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your spouse or *Spousal Equivalent* receives 50% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life.

50% Joint and Survivor Pension. This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your beneficiary receives 50% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life.

75% Spousal Pension. This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your spouse or *Spousal Equivalent* receives 75% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life.

100% Spousal Pension. This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your spouse or *Spousal Equivalent* receives 100% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life.

36-Month Average Contribution Rate. This rate is used in the calculation of your benefit under the Benefit Table Formula. This is generally the sum of employer contributions for the last 36 consecutive months, ending with the last month worked, divided by the number of hours worked during the same period.

1,800-Hour Average Contribution Rate. This rate is used in the calculation of your benefit under the Benefit Table Formula. In general, it is the average rate of employer contributions for your last 1,800 hours of work (600 hours for Seasonal Employees) through December 31, 2004.

Applicable Average Contribution Rate. This rate is the average contribution rate for determining the benefit amount under the Benefit Table Formula for a period of *Future Service* and *Past Service Pension Credit*. This rate may vary for different periods of service depending on your contribution history and, for *Past Service*, when your group joined the Plan.

Break-in-Service/One-Year Break-in-Service. This phrase refers to an interruption in continuous service under the Plan because you worked insufficient hours in a calendar year.

Covered Employment. This phrase means work for which the employer is required to make contributions to the Plan according to your collective bargaining agreement (CBA).

Default Schedule. By law, a plan in the red zone must present to the bargaining parties for selection one or more schedules of contribution increases and/or benefit reductions that are designed to improve plan funding and get the Plan out of the red zone during the required time frame. By law, one of the schedules must be the **Default Schedule**, which must reduce benefits to the maximum permissible under law, and increases contributions only if necessary after all allowable benefit reductions are made. For this Plan, there is also an alternative schedule, called the **Preferred Schedule**. The benefit differences between the **Default** and **Preferred Schedule** are 1) the **Default Schedule** does not have a subsidized disability benefit, and 2) the benefit formula in the **Default Schedule** is 1% of contributions, compared with 1.75% for the **Preferred Schedule**.

Disability Pension. This type of pension is available if you are **Totally and Permanently Disabled** before age 65 and meet the necessary service requirements.

Disqualifying Employment. This phrase means employment with any employer who participates in this Plan or any other employment in a craft or industry within the same geographical area covered by this Plan at the time you retire or reach *Normal Retirement Age*.

Early Retirement Pension. This type of pension is available if you are *Vested* and at least age 55, but less than age 65. Your benefit is subject to reduction based on your age and years of service at retirement.

Future Service. This phrase means hours you work for an employer after that employer joined the Plan and for which the employer is required to make contributions to the Plan on your behalf.

Normal Retirement Age. This term means:

- Age 65 or, if later, the fifth anniversary of your participation in the Plan, if you complete an hour of service after December 31, 1987; or
- Age 65 or, if later, the 10th anniversary of your participation in the Plan, if you did not complete an hour of service after December 31, 1987.

Normal Retirement Pension. This type of pension is available if you are **Vested** and have reached **Normal Retirement Age**.

Participant. Generally, you first become a *Participant* in the Plan on the January 1st or July 1st after working at least 350 hours during a continuous 12-month period in *Covered Employment*. Non-covered employment with a contributing employer that immediately precedes your *Covered Employment* will also count toward your eligibility for participation. You will also become a *Participant* upon achieving *Vested* status.

Past Service. This phrase means hours you work for an employer before that employer joined this Plan. If your employer joined this Plan on or after January 1, 2005, the maximum **Past Service Pension Credit** recognized by the Plan is limited. **Past Service Pension Credit** is used in determining your pension benefit and your eligibility to retire under the Normal and Early Pension. **Past Service Pension Credit** is not used to determine **Vesting Credits**.

Past Service Benefit Level. This is assigned when your employer joins the Plan and is used in determining your benefit amount under the Benefit Table Formula.

Pension Credit. This phrase means *Future Service* and *Past Service*.

Permanent Break-in-Service. This phrase means having no service under the Plan for a long enough period that you lose any prior service credit, provided that you have not **Vested** in that benefit.

Preferred Schedule. By law, a plan in the red zone must present to the bargaining parties for selection one or more schedules of contribution increases and/or benefit reductions that are designed to improve plan funding and get the Plan out of the red zone during the required time frame. By law, one of the schedules must be the **Default Schedule**, which must reduce benefits to the maximum permissible under law, and increases contributions only if necessary after all allowable benefit reductions are made. For this Plan, there is also an alternative schedule, called the **Preferred Schedule**. The benefit differences between the **Default** and **Preferred Schedule** are 1) the **Default Schedule** does not have a subsidized disability benefit, and 2) the benefit formula in the **Default Schedule** is 1% of contributions, compared with 1.75% for the **Preferred Schedule**.

Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO). This is a court order that requires the Plan to pay all or a portion of benefits to your spouse, former spouse, or dependent(s).

Spousal Equivalent. This means:

- Your civil union partner; or
- Your registered domestic partner.

To be eligible, a *Participant's* relationship with a *Spousal Equivalent* must be recognized by the state in which it occurs (or Canadian province or Puerto Rico). The *Participant* does not need to be a resident of that state at the time of retirement. If a state recognizes opposite-sex civil union or domestic partnerships, the Plan will recognize this only if the *Participant* or partner is at least age 62.

Straight Life Annuity. This pension provides you with an unreduced monthly benefit for your lifetime (with or without a 60-month guarantee).

Totally and Permanently Disabled. This term means that you cannot work in any type of employment because of bodily injury or disease that is expected to last at least until you reach age 65, and you have received a Disability Award from the Social Security Administration or the Railroad Retirement Board.

Vested. You have a permanent right to receive a benefit from the Plan. You become **Vested** after you:

- Reach your *Normal Retirement Age* (age 65 as an active *Participant* with five years of participation in the Plan); or
- Earn five Vesting Credits; or
- Earn five *Pension Credits*, at least one of which is for *Future Service* (if you were in *Covered Employment* on or before December 31, 2004); or
- Earn five *Pension Credits*, at least three of which are for *Future Service* (if you were in *Covered Employment* on or after January 1, 2005).
- **Vesting Credits.** These credits determine your right to, and eligibility for, a pension benefit, but do not affect the amount of your benefit.

At-a-Glance: What Happens When

There are various life events that may affect your Pension Plan benefits, such as getting married or retiring. Here's a summary of what you need to know if you experience one of these life events.

What Happens When	What You Need to Know
You Earn Service and Contributions	You earn Pension Credit for work in Covered Employment .
	You earn one <i>Future Service Pension</i> <i>Credit</i> if you work 1,800 or more hours in a calendar year. You also earn partial <i>Future</i> <i>Service Pension Credits</i> if you work at least 180 hours in a calendar year.
	All employer contributions made on your behalf count toward your pension benefit. The Plan does not accept employee contributions.
	When you first begin working in Covered Employment in the Plan, you will be asked to provide the Plan, in writing, information about yourself that is important to contacting you and processing your benefits. You will also be asked to identify your spouse or Spousal Equivalent who may receive any benefits that may apply if you die.
You Leave Employment	If you leave employment covered by the Plan and are Vested , you are eligible to receive a Vested Pension from the Plan as early as when you reach age 55.
	If you leave employment covered by the Plan and are not Vested , you may incur a Permanent Break-in-Service and lose any Pension Credits or Vesting Credits you earned.

What Happens When	What You Need to Know		
You Get Married or Divorced	Notify the SEIU Benefit Funds office of your marriage or divorce and update your beneficiary designation.		
	If you get married:		
	 Before retirement, you will generally receive your pension benefit as a 50% Spousal Pension unless you elect an optional form of payment with your spouse's written notarized consent; 		
	 After retirement, your pension benefit will not be affected. 		
	If you get divorced:		
	 Before retirement, and you remain single, your pension will generally be paid as a <i>Straight Life Annuity</i> unless there is a court-approved <i>Qualified Domestic Relations</i> <i>Order (QDRO)</i> that affects how your retirement benefits will be paid to you and your former spouse; 		
	After retirement, your form of pension benefit will not change, but a <i>QDRO</i> may affect the amount that you receive.		
You Become Disabled	To be eligible for a Disability Pension , you must:		
	• Be less than age 65;		
	• Be <i>Totally and Permanently Disabled</i> (beginning January 1, 2018, you must have a Social Security Disability Award to be found Totally and Permanently Disabled; beginning January 1, 2022, a disability award from the Railroad Retirement Board will also be accepted);		
	 Have 10 Vesting Credits (if your last Covered Employment was prior to 2005, the requirement is that you are Vested); and 		
	 Have worked at least 1,000 hours (or 350 hours for Seasonal Employees) in <i>Covered Employment</i> in the 24 months before you became disabled. 		

What Happens When	What You Need to Know
You Retire	To be eligible for a <i>Normal Retirement</i> <i>Pension</i> , you must:
	• Be <i>Vested</i> ; and
	• Be at least age 65.
	 To be eligible for an <i>Early Retirement</i> <i>Pension</i>, you must:
	• Be <i>Vested</i> ; and
	• Be at least age 55, but less than age 65.
	Your pension benefits must begin no later than the first day of the month after the date you reach age 70, whether or not you choose to continue to work.
	At retirement, the following payment options are available:
	50% Spousal Pension*;
	 75% Spousal Pension*;
	 100% Spousal Pension*;
	• 50% Joint and Survivor Pension*;
	Straight Life Annuity;
	 Straight Life Annuity with 60-month guarantee.
	* These pension options provide a survivor annuity and are reduced from the Straight Life Annuity because they will be paid over your and your beneficiary's lifetimes.
	At retirement, you can also elect a "pop-up" feature (except on the 75% Spousal Pension and the Straight Life Annuity options) so that if your beneficiary dies before you, your pension will return to the Straight Life Annuity amount for the remainder of your life.
	You must request and submit a completed application to the SEIU Benefit Funds office. Your payment option cannot be changed after your pension commences.

What Happens When	What You Need to Know
You Return to Work	If you return to work before you retire, how your pension benefit is affected is based on whether or not you were Vested when you left employment.
	If you return to work after you retire, but before you reach Normal Retirement Age , you may work a limited number of hours. If you exceed the limit, your pension will be suspended.
You Die Before Retirement	If you are Vested and die, your spouse or Spousal Equivalent will receive a lifetime survivor's annuity.
	Your spouse, Spousal Equivalent or beneficiary should contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office in the event of your death.
You Die After Retirement	If you elected a <i>50% Spousal Pension</i> , your spouse or <i>Spousal Equivalent</i> will receive 50% of your monthly benefit for his or her lifetime.
	If you elected a 75% Spousal Pension , your spouse or Spousal Equivalent will receive 75% of your monthly benefit for his or her lifetime.
	If you elected a 100% Spousal Pension , your spouse or Spousal Equivalent will receive 100% of your monthly benefit for his or her lifetime.
	If you elected a 50% Joint and Survivor Pension , your beneficiary will receive 50% of your monthly benefit for his or her lifetime.
	If you elect a <i>Straight Life Annuity</i> , the Plan offers you the option to guarantee that benefits will be paid for 60 months. The cost for this protection is paid by a reduction to your monthly benefit. If both you and your survivor die before this guaranteed amount has been paid, the balance will be paid to the beneficiary of the last survivor.
	Your spouse, Spousal Equivalent or beneficiary should contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office in the event of your death.

Special Groups in the National Industry Pension Fund

Mergers of Other Plans into the NIPF

If you became an active **Participant** in the NIPF because your group was part of a plan that merged with the NIPF, special rules may apply to the calculation of your service and benefit. These rules are summarized in Appendix A of this Summary Plan Description, beginning on page 61. Plans that have merged with the NIPF include:

Merged Plan Name	Date of Merger
Jewelry Workers Division Pension Plan	January 1, 1984
Window Cleaners, Local 48 Cleaning Contractors Pension Plan	January 1, 1984
Detroit Window Cleaning Division, Service Employees Local 79 Pension Fund	January 1, 1984
Pittsburgh Building Employees Pension Plan	January 1, 1991
Building Service Employees Pension Plan	May 1, 1994
St. Moritz Building Services Employees Pension Plan	December 1, 1995
Local 189 Service Employees Miscellaneous Pension Plan	July 1, 1997
Retirement Plan of Service Employees Local 189	July 1, 1997
Pension Plan for Service Employees of Michigan Race Tracks	April 1, 2000
Service Employees International Union Local 49 Pension Plan	June 1, 2003
	•

Seasonal Employees

Special rules apply if you are a Seasonal Employee. You are a Seasonal Employee if the NIPF Board of Trustees has accepted your group as a Seasonal Employment Group. Generally, a Seasonal Employment Group is a group for whom work is available under a collective bargaining agreement for less than six months in a calendar year for at least 75% of the employees.

The special rules that apply to Seasonal Employees are summarized in this SPD at the various points in which they differ from the rules that apply to other individuals working in *Covered Employment* under the NIPF.

How You Earn Service

Earning Future Service Pension Credits

Future Service Pension Credits are used in determining your eligibility to retire and, in some cases, *Vesting*. They are also used to determine the amount of your pension under the Benefit Table Formula, which applies to service through December 31, 2007. The term *Future Service* refers to the hours you worked for an employer after that employer joined the Plan and for which the employer is required to make contributions on your behalf. You earn one *Future Service Pension Credit* if you work 1,800 or more hours in a calendar year; you earn partial *Pension Credit* if you work fewer hours, as shown below:

Hours You Worked in a Calendar Year	Pension Credit You Earn
1,800 hours or more	1.00
1,600 – 1,799 hours	.90
1,400 – 1,599 hours	.80
1,200 – 1,399 hours	.70
1,000 – 1,199 hours	.60
800 – 999 hours	.50
600 – 799 hours	.40
500 – 599 hours	.30
400 – 499 hours	.25
300 – 399 hours	.20
200 – 299 hours	.15
180 – 199 hours	.10
0 – 179 hours	.00

If your employer reports your time daily, weekly, monthly or at shift rates, you will be credited with the number of hours specified in the collective bargaining agreement for each day, week, month or shift that is reported by your employer. If the collective bargaining agreement does not specify the number of hours to be credited, a day is treated as eight hours, a week as 40 hours and a month as 167 hours of work. If your employer reports your time both as daily, weekly, monthly or by shift of employment **AND** as actual hours worked, the daily, weekly, monthly or shift rates will be used for purposes of determining your *Future Service Pension Credits*.

Future Service Pension Credit will not be canceled if your employer withdraws from this Plan, but can be lost if you have a *Permanent Break-in-Service*.

You may also receive Future Service Pension Credits and Vesting Credits for:

- Military service that starts immediately after leaving work covered by this Plan, provided you return to work with the same employer following your discharge in accordance with the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) of 1994;
- Up to 501 hours per period for periods of vacation, leave, layoff or disability for which you are paid or entitled to payment; and
- Hours for which back pay is awarded.

If you were a member of another pension plan that merged with the SEIU National Industry Pension Plan, your service before the merger is determined under the rules of the former pension plan.

Earning Past Service Pension Credit

Past Service Pension Credit is also used in determining your pension benefit and your eligibility to retire under the Normal and Early Pension. The term **Past Service** refers to the hours you worked for an employer before that employer joined this Plan. **Past Service Pension Credit** is not considered **Vesting Credit**.

For each calendar year you worked for that employer at least 115 days, you receive one **Past Service Pension Credit**. If you worked less than 115 days in a year, you earn partial **Past Service Pension Credit** at the rate of 1/10 of a credit for each 12 days of work. However, if you did not earn at least one **Past Service Pension Credit** for three or more consecutive calendar years, you cannot receive any **Past Service Pension Credit** for any work before that period. Special rules apply for Seasonal Employees.

For Seasonal Employees Only

If you are a Seasonal Employee and you did not earn at least three-tenths of a **Past Service Pension Credit** for three or more consecutive calendar years, you cannot receive any **Past Service Pension Credit** for any work before that period.

You cannot earn more than one *Pension Credit*, counting both *Past Service* and *Future Service*, in the calendar year your employer joined the Plan.

You also earn Past Service Pension Credit for work with a previous employer if:

- Your previous employer sold the business but you continue to work for the new owner in the same job location; and
- That employer later joins the Plan and is contributing when your pension starts.

To receive *Past Service Pension Credit*, you must prove you worked in employment covered by the Plan. Pay stubs, W-2 forms, Social Security records, statements from your employer and membership records of your Local Union Office may be acceptable forms of proof.

There are limitations on *Past Service* based on when your group joined the Plan:

- If your employer joined the Plan before January 1, 2005, all of your *Past Service* applies toward your eligibility to retire. The value of your *Past Service* toward your benefit amount is based on the *Past Service Benefit Level (PSBL)* assigned to the employer for whom you were working when you and the employer initially joined the Plan. This value is explained in more detail in the section on the Benefit Table Formula for service prior to 2008 (page 67).
- If your employer joined the Plan on or after January 1, 2005, the maximum amount that may be awarded for purposes of determining your eligibility to retire is seven *Past Service Pension Credits*. The maximum *Past Service Pension Credit* that can be awarded for purposes of determining the amount of your pension benefit is two *Past Service Pension Credits*. The value of these *Past Service Pension Credits* is explained in the section on the Benefit Table Formula (page 67) and the section on benefits earned on or after January 1, 2008 (page 24).

Past Service Pension Credit may be canceled if your employer stops making contributions to the Plan within 10 years of joining the Plan. If your employer goes out of business within five years of joining the Plan or leaves the Plan within 10 years but continues business operations, you receive credit for **Past Service** only to determine if you are **Vested** and eligible for benefits. Your **Past Service Pension Credit** will not count toward the amount of your monthly benefit. However, the canceled credit may be restored if you earn additional **Pension Credits** with another employer covered by this Plan.

If you were a member of another pension plan that merged with the SEIU National Industry Pension Plan, your **Past Service** before the merger is determined under the rules of the former pension plan.

Earning Vesting Credits

Vesting Credits affect your eligibility for a benefit, but not the amount of your benefit. In general, you earn one **Vesting Credit** for each calendar year you work 700 hours or more in work covered by the Plan for which your employer(s) is required to make contributions on your behalf. You earn one-half of a **Vesting Credit** for each calendar year you work between 350 and 700 hours. You cannot earn more than one **Vesting Credit** in a calendar year. **Past Service Pension Credits** are not **Vesting Credits**.

If your employer moves you from the collective bargaining group to employment with that same employer that does not require contributions to this Plan, you may earn **Vesting Credit** based on your entire employment period so long as the employer continues to contribute to the Plan for that entire employment period.

If you were a member of another pension plan that merged with the SEIU National Industry Pension Plan, *Vesting Credit* will be applied based on the prior plan until the merger date. You will be *Vested* in this Plan if you were *Vested* in the prior plan at the time of the merger.

Vested means you earn a permanent right to a pension benefit from the Plan. You become *Vested* after you:

- Reach your *Normal Retirement Age* (age 65 as an active *Participant* with five years of participation in the Plan); or
- Earn five *Vesting Credits*; or
- Earn five *Pension Credits*, at least one of which is for *Future Service* (if you were in *Covered Employment* on or before December 31, 2004); or
- Earn five *Pension Credits*, at least three of which are for *Future Service* (if you were in *Covered Employment* on or after January 1, 2005).

Years of participation, *Pension Credits*, or *Vesting Credits* earned before a *Permanent Break-in-Service* are not counted.

If you were a participant in another plan that merged with this Plan and you have not earned any service following the date of the merger, different vesting rules may apply.

If You Leave Employment

Leaving Employment Before Vesting

The Pension Plan is designed to provide you with retirement benefits for work over a period of time. The Plan also accommodates periods when your employment is interrupted. However, if you are not **Vested** when your employment is interrupted, you may experience a **Break-in-Service** and lose credit for your service before the interruption.

There are two types of *Breaks-in-Service*:

- One-Year Break-in-Service; and
- Permanent Break-in-Service.

For Seasonal Employees Only

- For service before May 1, 1994, you earn one *Vesting Credit* for each calendar year you work 350 hours covered by this Plan.
- For service after May 1, 1994, you earn one *Vesting Credit* for each calendar year you work 120 hours covered by this Plan, beginning with 1994.
- If you were in **Covered Employment** on December 31, 2004, you become Vested after you reach your Normal Retirement Age, earn five Vesting Credits, or earn three Pension Credits, at least three-tenths of which is for Future Service.
- If you began Covered Employment on or after January 1, 2005, you become Vested after you reach your Normal Retirement Age, earn five Vesting Credits, or earn three Pension Credits, at least one of which is for Future Service.

One-Year Break-in-Service

If you do not work at least 350 hours in a calendar year (120 hours for Seasonal Employees) before you are **Vested**, you have a **One-Year Break-in-Service**. If you have a **One-Year Break-in-Service**, any **Pension Credits**, or **Vesting Credits** you earned before the **Break-in-Service** will not be counted until you return to work and earn additional **Vesting Credit**.

If you do not work at least 350 hours in a calendar year (120 hours for Seasonal Employees) before you are *Vested*, you have a *One-Year Break-*in-Service.

Permanent Break-in-Service

If during any **One-Year Break-in-Service** an employer actually contributes to the Plan on your behalf, even if only for one hour, that year is considered a "grace year." Grace years are not counted toward a **Permanent Break-in-Service**. However, years before and after a grace year can be counted together as consecutive years toward a **Permanent Break-in-Service**.

If you have seven consecutive years in which no employer contributions are made on your behalf before you are **Vested**, you will have a **Permanent Break-in-Service** and you will lose all your accumulated **Vesting Credits** and **Pension Credits**. You will begin to earn credit under the Plan only from the time you work after the **Permanent Break-in-Service**. Different rules apply for **Permanent Break-in-Service** rules in effect before May 1, 1994. Please contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office for more information.

Break-in-Service and Plan Mergers

If you were a member of another pension plan that merged with the SEIU National Industry Pension Plan, and if you had a *Permanent Break-in-Service* under the former pension plan, you cannot have that *Break-in-Service* repaired merely because of the merger.

Exceptions to Service Breaks

There are exceptions to service break rules. Certain non-work periods are used in determining if a **One-Year Break-in-Service** has occurred.

The following periods are considered exceptions to service breaks:

- Maternity or Paternity Leave. If you are absent from work due to pregnancy, the birth
 of a child, adoption of a child, placement of a child in connection with adoption of that
 child or the care of your newborn or newly adopted child, you will be credited with up to
 501 hours to avoid a *One-Year Break-in-Service*. You will be credited with these hours
 in the year the absence begins if you need to avoid a *One-Year Break-in-Service* for
 that year. Otherwise, you will be credited with these hours in the following year.
- Family and Medical Leave. If you are absent from work because of an authorized leave of absence under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, you will not incur a **One-Year Break-in-Service**.
- **Military Service.** If you are absent from employment due to qualified service in the uniformed services of the United States, you will be credited with service in accordance with the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) of 1994.

You must notify the SEIU Benefit Funds office within two years of the beginning of your absence to be eligible for these exceptions to the service break rules. The Board of Trustees may require proof of the cause and the number of days of your absence.

Leaving Employment After Vesting

If you are *Vested* and leave employment, you have a right to a *Vested Pension* benefit. For information about your *Vested Pension* benefit amount.

Portability Agreements

The Plan has signed "Portability Agreements" with certain other pension plans, including the SEIU Affiliates' Officers and Employees Pension Plan and the Pension Plan for Employees of SEIU. The SEIU Benefit Funds office can provide you with a current list of plans with which this Plan has a Portability Agreement. If you become a participant of any of those plans in the future or you were a participant of any of those plans in the past, service credits certified by those plans may be counted under this Plan for the purposes of vesting and eligibility.

Portability service credit is not used as service in your benefit calculation. Provided it is not for duplicate periods of time, however, vesting service certified under a Portability Agreement may be counted as additional eligibility service. Therefore, service credited under a Portability Agreement may allow you to be eligible for certain types of pensions sooner than if such credit was not granted. There are special rules that cover the granting of service credit under a Portability Agreement, including the following:

- If you are not **Vested** and you have a break in employment (from termination of employment covered by the first pension plan to the date of employment covered by the second pension plan) that is long enough to cause a **Permanent Break-in-Service** and loss of credit in the first plan, portability service is not available.
- This Plan will not recognize any of your portability service from another pension plan if you received benefits from this Plan before the date the Portability Agreement between the two pension plans was signed.
- Neither pension plan will recognize any of your portability service if you receive benefits
 from one pension plan while you are still an active employee under the other pension
 plan. (Exceptions are made for payments made on or after your *Normal Retirement Age*, distributions due to the termination of a plan or disability payments later
 discontinued because of recovery.)

If You Get Married or Divorced

Marriage Before Retirement

If you are married when you retire, you will receive your pension benefit as a **50% Spousal Pension** form of payment unless you elect to receive another pension payment option and your spouse signs a notarized waiver. If you die before beginning your pension benefit, your spouse may be eligible to receive a survivor's annuity.

What You Should Do

It is important that you contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office to update your records and beneficiary information when you get married or divorced. Your pension benefits may be affected if you get married or divorced.

Marriage After Retirement

Your pension benefit is not affected when you marry after you have begun receiving pension benefits. Your benefits are not affected because you cannot change your form of payment after you have begun receiving pension benefits.

Divorce Before Retirement

If you are divorced as of the date of your retirement, the Plan will treat you as a single person, unless there is a *Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO)*. For more information, see the section below. If you die before you retire, a *QDRO* may require the Plan to pay death benefits to your former spouse. If you have questions, please contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office.

Divorce After Retirement

If you are married when you retire and you later divorce, your form of pension benefit will generally not change; however, the pension benefit amount that you receive may change if there is a *QDRO*. For more information, see the section below.

To be considered retired or to be in retirement, a *Participant* must have separated from *Covered Employment*. A *Participant* who has applied for a pension with approval granted by the Plan shall be considered retired, notwithstanding subsequent employment or reemployment with any contributing employer(s) for hours that would not cause his or her pension to be suspended.

QDRO Procedures

A **QDRO** is a court order that requires the Plan to pay all or a portion of your benefits to your spouse, former spouse or dependent(s). A **QDRO** may affect the amount of your pension benefit because your benefits may be used to pay child or spousal support or be divided as marital property.

You may obtain the Plan's *QDRO* procedures free of charge with a written request to the SEIU Benefit Funds office. Any rights of your former spouse or other alternate payee to your pension under a *QDRO* will take precedence over those of any subsequent spouse. If you have questions about *QDROs*, contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office.

Applying for Your Pension Benefits

You must apply for a pension in order to receive pension benefits from the Plan. The processing of your application may take many weeks. Therefore, **you should apply for your pension at least four but no more than six months before you intend to retire**. Otherwise, your first pension check may be delayed.

After the SEIU Benefit Funds office receives your completed payment option forms, you will generally receive your first benefit payment within 60 days.

When You Start Your Pension Affects Your Benefit

In general, if your benefit begins after your **Normal Retirement Age** and your benefit was not subject to suspension for working, your monthly pension benefit will be actuarially increased for each month your retirement date is later than your **Normal Retirement Age** to account for the delay in commencing your benefit after your **Normal Retirement Age**.

You can retire as early as age 55, but your pension will be reduced.

You must begin receiving your pension benefits by the first day of the month after the date on which you reach age 70, whether or not you continue to work.

What You Should Do

Keep your current address on file with the SEIU Benefit Funds office. This will ensure that you will receive important Plan information.

How to Apply for a Pension

- Request an application by calling the SEIU Benefit Funds office at (800) 458-1010, Monday–Friday, from 9 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. Eastern Time. You will be asked to provide:
 - Your name, address and phone number;
 - Your expected date of retirement;
 - Your Social Security number;
 - Your spouse's (or beneficiary's) name and date of birth.
- You may also obtain an application on the Fund's website: <u>seiufunds.org</u>

- The SEIU Benefit Funds office will send you an application, along with an estimate of the benefits payable to you, and details of your work history. Review your work history carefully to make sure that it is complete and correct and notify the SEIU Benefit Funds office right away if you believe there are any errors.
- Complete the application forms, attach the required proofs of age and proof of marital status and send the completed forms to the SEIU Benefit Funds office.
- The SEIU Benefit Funds office will review your application for completeness and accuracy and will send you a letter acknowledging receipt of your application. The letter may also include a request for additional information, if needed. Review the acknowledgment letter sent to you and submit any additional requested information to the SEIU Benefit Funds office. If this information is not received within 90 days of the date of the acknowledgment letter, your application for benefits may be denied, and you will be required to submit a new application.

What You Should Do

In order to receive pension benefits, you must submit a completed application.

Please see page 46 for information about the commencement of your pension if you are age 70 or older and you do not return a completed application. You can request an application by calling the SEIU Benefit Funds office at (800) 458-1010, Monday–Friday, from 9 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. Eastern Time. You can visit <u>seiufunds.org</u> to download an application at any time.

- Once your application is complete and the SEIU Benefit Funds office verifies that you are eligible for benefits, you will receive an approval letter. This letter will describe the payment options available to you, including amounts that are payable under each payment option, and a payment option election form. You must elect a payment option and your spouse must consent in writing to the option that you elect. Your election must be returned to the SEIU Benefit Funds office within 90 days of the date of the approval letter. (Note: Your spouse's consent is not valid if it is signed more than 180 days before the payment begins.)
- You *must* receive your monthly pension payment through direct deposit to your bank. The SEIU Benefit Funds office will provide you the necessary forms to authorize this.

Once your option form is received by the SEIU Benefit Funds office, you will generally receive your first benefit payment within 60 days.

Participants that Die During the Applications Process

Effective January 1, 2019, the Plan was amended to modify the benefits payable when a *Participant* dies after submitting a pension application, but during the period in which the application process is not yet completed.

Participants with a Surviving Spouse

If a *Participant* with a surviving spouse dies after applying for a pension benefit but before benefit payments begin, the surviving spouse may have the option to elect between the preretirement survivor's annuity and one of the *Spousal Pension* options.

If a *Participant* dies after applying for a pension benefit <u>but has not elected a form of benefit</u> <u>payment</u>, the surviving spouse may elect to receive:

- a) The preretirement survivor's annuity (50% Spousal Pension); or
- b) The 75% Spousal Pension option; or
- c) The **100% Spousal Pension** option.

EXAMPLE A

On April 1, Joe submits a completed pension application. Joe dies on April 20, before he has submitted his election of a form of benefit payment. Joe is survived by his spouse of 10 years, Jane. Jane will receive the preretirement survivor's annuity (*50% Spousal Pension*), or she may elect to receive the survivor portion of the *75%* or *100% Spousal Pension* instead.

If a *Participant* dies after applying for a pension benefit <u>and has elected a form of benefit</u> <u>payment</u>, the surviving spouse may elect to receive:

- a) The preretirement survivor's annuity; or
- b) The form of benefit actually elected by the *Participant* before his or her death.

EXAMPLE B

On April 1, Margaret submits a completed pension application and elects the **75% Spousal Pension**. Payments are scheduled to begin on July 1. Margaret dies on June 1 (before payments have begun). Margaret is survived by her spouse of 5 years, Michael. Michael will receive the preretirement survivor's annuity, or he may elect to receive the survivor portion of the **75% Spousal Pension** (which would have been payable if Margaret had survived until benefits had commenced) instead of the preretirement survivor's annuity.

Participants Without a Surviving Spouse

If a *Participant* dies after applying for a pension benefit and electing the Single Life Annuity with a 60-month guarantee, but before the *Participant's* Pension Effective Date, and the *Participant* does not have a surviving spouse eligible for a benefit under the Plan, the 60-month guaranteed benefit will be paid to the designated beneficiary as elected by the *Participant*.

EXAMPLE C

On April 1, Albert submits his completed pension application and elects the Single Life Annuity with 60-month guarantee. Payments are scheduled to begin on July 1. Albert dies on June 1 (before payments have begun). Albert is not married, and he has named his brother, Allan, to be his designated beneficiary. Allan will receive the 60 guaranteed payments (as elected by Albert).

As a reminder, an individual legally married to a *Participant*, joined with the *Participant* in a civil union, or registered as a domestic partner with the *Participant* will be treated as a "spouse" under the Plan. A "spouse" is also a "surviving spouse" eligible for a benefit under the Plan if (1) the spouse or *Spousal Equivalent* was married to the *Participant* (or a partner in a civil union or registered as a domestic partner) for at least one year before the death of the *Participant* and (2) the marriage, civil union or domestic partnership had not ended due to death, divorce or dissolution before the death of the *Participant*.

If Your Application Is Denied

If your application is denied or partially denied, you will receive a written notice from the SEIU Benefit Funds office within 90 days after the Funds office receives your application. Should special circumstances require additional time to decide your claim, the Plan will provide you with a written notice of the extension within 90 days after receipt of your claim explaining the special circumstances and the date by which the SEIU Benefit Funds office expects to render the benefit determination. This extended due date cannot exceed 180 days from the date on which your claim was originally filed.

If your application for benefits is denied, the written denial will state:

- The specific reason or reasons for the denial;
- The specific reference to the Plan provision or provisions on which the denial is based;
- A description of any additional material or information that you may need to provide, and the reason(s) why this information is necessary;
- Information on how to submit your claim for review; and
- A statement explaining your right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) following an adverse benefit determination after the review.

What You Should Do

You may request a review of the denial of your pension application or benefit amount within 90 days (180 days for appeals involving a suspension of benefits) after the date the decision was made. You should send your written request to the Board of Trustees.

Appeal Procedure

If your claim is denied, in whole or in part, you may request a review of your benefit denial or the Fund policy, determination or action with which you disagree, by submitting a written appeal to the Trustees. Your written appeal must be submitted within 90 days (180 days for appeals involving suspension of benefits) of receiving the claim denial.

If your claim has been denied and you fail to request a review in a timely manner, it will be conclusively determined for all purposes of this Plan that the initial denial of your claim is final and binding on all parties, including the applicant, the claimant and any person claiming under the application.

Your appeal should be mailed to:

Board of Trustees SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650

Your written appeal should state the reason for your appeal. You are not required to quote all applicable Plan provisions or to make "legal" arguments; however, you should state clearly why you believe you are entitled to the benefit you claim or why you disagree with a Fund policy, determination or action. The Trustees can best consider your position if they clearly understand your claims, reasons and/or objections.

The Board of Trustees, or an authorized subcommittee designated by the Board, will review your appeal. The impartial review will take into account all comments, documents, records and other information that you submit relating to the claim, regardless of whether the information was submitted or considered in the initial benefit determination.

You will be provided reasonable access to, and copies of, all relevant documents upon request. A document, record or other information is "relevant" if it:

- Was relied upon in making the benefit determination;
- Was submitted, considered or generated in the course of making the benefit determination, without regard to whether it was relied upon in making the benefit determination; or
- Demonstrates compliance with the administrative processes and safeguards required under federal law.

The Board of Trustees or the authorized subcommittee will make their decision within 60 days after receipt of your appeal. If special circumstances require a further extension of time for processing, the Board or the authorized subcommittee may require an extension of up to another 60 days to notify you of the decision on your appeal. If such extension is required, you will be notified of the extension within the original 60 days after the receipt of your appeal request, indicating the special circumstances requiring the extension and the date on which a decision is expected to be rendered on your claim.

You will be advised of the decision on your appeal in writing. The notice of the decision will be written in a clear manner and will include:

- Specific reasons for the decision and specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the decision is based;
- A statement that you are entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to and copies of all documents, records and other information "relevant" to your claim for benefits; and
- A statement of your right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA following an adverse benefit determination on review.

If you wish, you can appoint an authorized representative to act on your behalf. You also can choose to represent yourself. If you wish to use an authorized representative (this person may be a lawyer, but need not be), you must notify the SEIU Benefit Funds office in advance in writing of the name, address and phone number of the authorized representative.

The Trustees' decisions in such matters are final and binding on all persons dealing with the Plan or claiming a benefit from the Plan. If a decision of the Trustees is challenged in court, it is the intention of the parties to the Trust, and the Plan provides, that the Trustees' decision is to be upheld unless it is determined to be arbitrary or capricious. Any civil action brought by a participant or beneficiary under section 502(a) of ERISA must be commenced no later than three years following the earliest of:

- The date the participant or beneficiary has exhausted these procedures;
- The date on which the participant or beneficiary knew or should have known that they did not receive an amount due under the Plan; or
- Any such other date upon which the limitations period would commence under applicable law.

Any such civil action must be brought within the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, subject to the laws of the District of Columbia where not preempted by federal law.

Retirement Benefits

- The NIPF offers several types of pensions.
- You have options for how your benefit will be paid.
- The benefit you earn each year (your accrued benefit) depends on the formula in effect for the year in which you earned the benefit.
- Some special rules may apply to some of your service if it was earned in a pension plan before it merged with the NIPF.

Eligibility for a Pension

The Plan offers three types of retirement pensions:

- Normal Retirement Pension;
- Early Retirement Pension;
- Disability Pension.

If you were a participant in a plan that merged with the NIPF, special rules may apply to the determination of your benefit when you retire from the NIPF. (See page 67 for a summary of these special rules.)

Benefit Options

When you retire, you may choose from the following benefit options:

- 50% Spousal Pension (with or without pop-up);
- 75% Spousal Pension (without pop-up);
- 100% Spousal Pension (with or without pop-up);
- 50% Joint and Survivor Pension (with or without pop-up);
- Straight Life Annuity (with or without a 60-month guarantee).

Your Accrued Benefit – For Service On or After January 1, 2008

Your benefit for service earned on or after January 1, 2008 is based on the Contribution Formula. The Contribution Formula provides a benefit based on a percentage of the contributions made to the Plan on your behalf.

- If contributions were first required to be made on your behalf before 2008, the monthly benefit you earned during 2008 and 2009 is equal to 2.5% of the total contributions made by all of your employers on your behalf for work during this period.
- If contributions were first required to be made on your behalf on or after January 1, 2008, the monthly benefit you earned during 2008 and 2009 equals 2.25% of the total contributions made by all of your employers on your behalf for work during this period.
- For all work on or after January 1, 2010, the monthly benefit you earn is equal to 1.75% of the total contributions required to be made by all of your employers on your behalf during this period. However, if you work in a group that is operating under the *Default Schedule*, the monthly benefit you earn is equal to 1.00% of the total contributions made while you are working under the *Default Schedule*.

The *Default Schedule* is set by the Rehabilitation Plan adopted by the Trustees. For more information about the Rehabilitation Plan, see the Introduction section.

If the group to which you belong first joined the Plan after 2007, you may also be eligible for a *Past Service* benefit for service prior to the date that your group joined the Plan.

Your Contribution Formula benefit for work during 2008 and later will be added to the benefit you earned prior to 2008.

Contributions made before a *Permanent Break-in-Service* are not counted.

You can obtain information about your total contributions from the SEIU Benefit Funds office.

EXAMPLE D

Contributions were first made to the Plan on Inez's behalf during 2010. Her group contributes under the *Preferred Schedule*. Contributions of \$1,000 per year were made on Inez's behalf from 2010 until 2020, when she reaches age 65 and is eligible for a **Normal Retirement Pension**. Upon her retirement, her monthly benefit will be:

\$1,000 contributions X 10 years X 1.75% = \$175 monthly benefit

EXAMPLE E

Contributions were first made to the Plan on Javier's behalf for work prior to 2008. Isabel started working in Covered Employment in early 2008. During 2008 and 2009, contributions of \$1,000 each per year were made on Javier's and Isabel's behalf. The monthly benefit each person earned during 2008 and 2009 follows:

- Javier: \$2,000 X 2.50% = \$50.00 monthly benefit earned in 2008–2009
- Isabel: \$2,000 X 2.25% = \$45.00 monthly benefit earned in 2008–2009

In 2010, base contributions (base contributions exclude surcharges or supplemental contributions) were \$1,000 each on Javier's and Isabel's behalf, spread evenly throughout the year. Javier's group selects the Preferred Schedule during 2010. However, Isabel's group becomes subject to the Default Schedule on October 1, 2010. The monthly benefits each person earned during 2010 are as follows:

- Javier: \$1,000 X 1.75% = \$17.50 monthly benefit earned in 2010
- Isabel: \$750 X 1.75% = \$13.13 monthly benefit earned through September 2010

\$250 X 1.00% = \$2.50 monthly benefit earned October through December 2010

Isabel's total monthly benefit earned in 2010 = \$15.63

The amount of benefit earned from 2008 through 2012 is summed to determine the total monthly benefit earned after December 31, 2007.

Base contributions of \$1,000 per year continue to be made on behalf of Javier and Isabel during 2011 and 2012. The monthly benefits each person earned during 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

- Javier: \$2,000 X 1.75% = \$35 monthly benefit earned in 2011–2012
- Isabel: \$2,000 X 1.00% = \$20 monthly benefit earned in 2011–2012

Javier's total monthly benefit earned after December 31, 2007 is \$102.50, and Isabel's total monthly benefit earned after December 31, 2007 is \$80.63.

Your Accrued Benefit – For Service Prior to January 1, 2008

The Plan uses two formulas to calculate your accrued benefit **prior to January 1, 2008**. Any pension benefit you earned through 2007 will be based on the formula that produces the highest benefit as of December 31, 2007.

- The Contribution Formula is a percentage of the contributions made to the Plan by your employer(s).
- The Benefit Table Formula is based on your years of service and your Average Contribution Rate. The Benefit Table Formula may also provide a benefit for **Past Service** with your employer before your employer joined the Plan (see page 67).

The pension amount payable to you may include further adjustments, depending on the type of pension you are eligible to receive and the payment option you choose.

The following sections describe how your accrued benefit through 2007 is calculated under the Contribution Formula and the Benefit Table Formula.

Contribution Formula

The monthly amount of your benefit under the Contribution Formula for service through the end of 2007 equals the sum of the following:

- 3.0% of the total contributions made by all of your employers on your behalf for work through December 31, 2004.
- If you do not have service on or after January 1, 2001, but have service during 2000, an additional 5.75% benefit supplement is added to your benefit for the contributions earned through December 31, 2000.
- If you have service on or after January 1, 2001, an additional 7.35% benefit supplement is added to your benefit for the contributions earned through December 31, 2003.
- 2.7% of the total contributions made by all of your employers on your behalf for work on or after January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2007.

EXAMPLE F

Example of Calculation Using the Contribution Formula

Contributions made on Javier's behalf for the years listed are shown below. What is Javier's accrued monthly benefit?

Contribution Period	Contributions	Monthly Benefit Rate	Supplement
1986–2003 (18 Pension Credits)	\$10,800.00	3.0%	7.35%
2004 (1 Pension Credit)	\$800.00	3.0%	
2005–2007 (3 Pension Credits)	\$3,000.00	2.7%	

To calculate Javier's accrued benefit, you need to multiply the contributions times the appropriate monthly benefit rate and add the supplement for each contribution period, as follows:

For 1986–2003:	\$10,800.00	Х	.03	=	\$324.00
		Plus			
	\$324.00	Х	.0735		<u>\$23.81</u>
		Equals			\$347.81
For 2004:	\$800.00	Equals X	.03	=	\$347.81 \$24.00

Add the amounts for each contribution period to get the total accrued monthly benefit:

\$347.81 + \$24.00 + \$81.00 = \$452.81

Javier's accrued monthly benefit as of December 31, 2007, using the Contribution Formula, is \$452.81.

This amount is compared with the result of the Benefit Table Formula. Your accrued benefit as of December 31, 2007 is the higher of the two results. See Example H for this comparison in Javier's case. Example H also shows the final step of adding this result for the benefit as of December 31, 2007 to his benefit earned after 2007.

Benefit Table Formula

Past Service Pension Credits are based on the time you worked for an employer before that employer joined this Plan. Appendix B shows examples of the **Past Service** benefit amounts at each **Past Service Benefit Level**. If you have a **Past Service Benefit Level** of "0," you do not qualify for a **Past Service** benefit amount. (Keep in mind, however, that your **Past Service Pension Credits** still count toward your eligibility for a pension.)

The monthly amount of your benefit under the Benefit Table Formula as of December 31, 2007 is based on your service while contributions are being made to the Plan on your behalf (called *Future Service*), your *Applicable Average Contribution Rate* (explained in the next section) and your service with your employer prior to your employer joining the Plan, if any (called *Past Service*). Your benefit under the Benefit Table Formula equals the sum of the following:

- For service through December 31, 2004: Multiply your *Future Service Pension Credits* earned through December 31, 2004 by your *Future Service* benefit amount from the third column of Appendix B (see page 67);
 - If you have service during 2000 but do not have service on or after January 1, 2001, an additional 5.75% benefit supplement is added to your *Future Service* benefit through December 31, 2000.
 - If you have service on or after January 1, 2001, an additional 7.35% benefit supplement is added to your *Future Service* benefit for all service through December 31, 2003.
- For service from January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2007, multiply your years of *Future Service Pension Credit* earned during this period by the appropriate *Future Service* benefit amount from the second column of Appendix B (see page 67).
- Your *Past Service* benefit is determined by multiplying your years of *Past Service Credit* by your *Past Service* benefit amount.
 - If your group entered the Plan before 2004, your *Past Service* benefit amount is based on the *Past Service Benefit Level (PSBL)* assigned to your group. Your group's *PSBL* is based on an actuarial review of the characteristics of the group when it joined the Plan. The *PSBL* may be "0" (no credit for the purpose of determining the amount of your benefit), "1" (full credit on the same basis as a *Future Service Pension Credit*), or "2" through "6" (a fraction of full credit).
 - If your group joined this Plan on or after January 1, 2005, the maximum *Past Service Pension Credit* that you may be awarded for purposes of determining the amount of your pension benefit is two *Past Service Pension Credits*. Your *Past Service* benefit amount is based on one-half of the contribution rate that the employer pays on your behalf during the first term of the collective bargaining agreement that brings the group into the Plan. (Please note that the maximum amount that may be awarded for purposes of determining your eligibility to retire is seven *Past Service Pension Credits*.)

The total number of *Past Service Pension Credits* and *Future Service Pension Credits* used in calculating your Benefit Table Formula amount as of December 31, 2007 is limited to 25. If you have more than 25 credits, the 25 that give you the highest benefit amount will be used in the calculation.

Average Contribution Rate

General Rule: 36-Month Average Contribution Rate

For those with service on or after January 1, 2005, generally your **Applicable Average Contribution Rate** is your **36-Month Average Contribution Rate**. This is the sum of contributions for the last 36 consecutive months prior to January 1, 2008, ending with the last month worked, divided by the number of hours worked during the same period. If less than 1,800 hours have been worked, the month period shall be expanded to include prior consecutive months until it includes at least 1,800 hours.

If a prior period has a higher contribution rate because you worked under a different collective bargaining agreement, that higher contribution rate applies for service during that prior period and all prior service. The benefit is calculated in separate parts and added.

If You Became a Plan Participant Before January 1, 2005

If you became a Plan *Participant* before January 1, 2005 (but excluding participation before any *Permanent Break-in-Service*), your benefit is calculated using the *Applicable Average Contribution Rate* as defined above or, if greater, using the following two-part calculation:

- For all service credited after January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2007, your benefit amount will be calculated using the **36-Month Average Contribution Rate**.
- For years of *Future Service* and *Past Service Pension Credits* earned prior to January 1, 2005, your benefit amount is calculated using the *1,800-Hour Average Contribution Rate*. The *1,800-Hour Average Contribution Rate* is, in general, the average rate of employer contributions for the best 1,800 hours in your last calendar year of work prior to 2005. If you did not work 1,800 hours in your last calendar year, prior periods are included. If a prior calendar year results in a higher average rate, then that rate will be used for that calendar year and all prior periods of *Future Service* and *Past Service*. In general, the *1,800-Hour Average Contribution Rate* cannot increase faster than \$0.33 per hour per 12-month period.

EXAMPLE G

Example of Calculation Using the Benefit Table Formula

Going back to Example F, Javier also has eight years of **Past Service** with a **Past Service Benefit Level** of "2." Javier has 22 **Future Service Pension Credits** through December 31, 2007 (from Example F) and eight **Past Service Pension Credits** for a total of 30. The Plan only considers the best 25 years. Therefore, only three **Past Service Pension Credits** will be used for Javier in the calculation below.

Part 1: Calculate Average Contribution Rate

Javier's **36-Month Average Contribution Rate** and his **1,800-Hour Average Contribution Rate** are calculated as follows:

In Javier's case, his hourly contribution rates and hours worked each year are:

2007: \$0.55 (12 months, 2,000 hours)

2006: \$0.50 (12 months, 2,000 hours)

2005: \$0.45 (12 months, 2,000 hours)

The **36-Month Average Contribution Rate** is \$0.50.

Javier's **1,800-Hour Average Contribution Rate**, which is calculated as of the end of 2004, is \$0.45.

The 36-month average is greater than the 1,800-hour average. Therefore, we use Javier's **36-Month Average Contribution Rate** for all **Pension Credits**.

Part 2: Calculate Accrued Benefit Using the Benefit Table Formula

We look up the *Future Service* benefit amount and the *Past Service* benefit amount at Benefit Level "2" in the table in Appendix B (page 67).

	Averaç	ge Rate	<i>Future Service</i> Benefit Accrual		Past Service Benefit Accrual
36-Month Average Contribution Rate	\$0.50		\$21.15		\$17.34
	Pension	Credits	Benefit	Accrual	Accrued Monthly Benefit
Past Service Pension Credits	3	Х	\$17.34	=	\$52.02
through 2003					
Future Service Pension Credits	18	Х	\$21.15	=	\$380.70
through 2003					
Future Service Pension Credits	1	Х	\$21.15	=	\$21.15
in 2004					
Future Service Pension Credits	3	Х	\$19.04	=	\$57.12
in 2005–2007					

Now, we can use the results from Examples E, F and G to calculate Javier's total accrued benefit.

For Seasonal Employees Only

If you are a Seasonal Employee, your *1,800-Hour Average Contribution Rate* is based on 600 hours, not 1,800 hours.

EXAMPLE H

Javier's total benefit for all service:

In Javier's case, the Benefit Table Formula produces a higher benefit (\$538.97; see Example G) than the Contribution Formula (\$452.81; see Example F) for his accrued benefit as of December 31, 2007. Therefore, Javier's accrued monthly benefit as of December 31, 2007 is \$538.97. This benefit is "locked in" since it is the higher result of the two calculation formulas, and will not change. Any new benefits Javier earns after 2007 will be added to this "locked in" amount.

This amount is added to the amount for the contribution period after 2007 (from Example E) to get the total accrued monthly benefit:

\$538.97 + \$102.50 = \$641.47

Javier's accrued monthly benefit as of December 31, 2012 is \$641.47.

Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers

If you have service in another plan that later merged with the National Industry Pension Fund, some special rules may apply to the benefits you earned before the merger. These rules are explained in Appendix A at the end of this Summary Plan Description. To be eligible for an Early Retirement Pension, you must be at least 55, but less than age 65, and Vested. Your pension is reduced when you retire early, because you are likely to receive benefit payments for a longer period of time.

Normal Retirement Pension

You can qualify for a *Normal Retirement Pension* if you:

- Retire;
- Submit a completed application;
- Are at least age 65; and
- Are **Vested**.

If you are eligible for a *Normal Retirement Pension*, your pension payment will be your accrued benefit, adjusted for the payment option that you elect.

Early Retirement Pension

You may qualify for an *Early Retirement Pension* if you:

- Retire;
- Submit a completed application;
- Are at least age 55, but less than age 65; and
- Are Vested.

Your *Early Retirement Pension* is your accrued benefit, reduced as follows:

- Your monthly benefit payment is reduced for each month that you are younger than age 65, as shown in the table below.
- In addition, your *Early Retirement Pension* will be further adjusted for the payment option that you elect.

Early Retirement Factors

All Retirements Effective January 1, 2010 or Later		
Age	Early Retirement Reduction Factor	
64	9.96%	
63	18.75%	
62	26.52%	
61	33.42%	
60	39.56%	
59	45.04%	
58	49.95%	
57	54.35%	
56	58.30%	
55	61.87%	

EXAMPLE I

Early Retirement Example

Using Javier, as in the prior examples, we already determined that he worked in Covered Employment prior to January 1, 2008, and his accrued benefit is \$641.47. Javier is 58 years old; therefore, Javier's early retirement reduction is 49.95%, assuming that Javier earned some Pension Credit in the calendar year he retired or the year before. Javier's early retirement reduction would be:

49.95% X \$641.47 = \$320.41

Javier's monthly benefit reduced for early retirement would be: \$641.47 - \$320.41 = \$321.06

You are eligible to retire upon or after reaching age 55 if you leave **Covered Employment** after becoming **Vested**. Because you are **Vested**, you do not lose your right to a pension if you leave **Covered Employment** before you are eligible to retire or because you wish to defer the commencement of your pension beyond the date when you are first eligible.

Disability Benefits

You may be eligible for a *Disability Pension* if you become *Totally and Permanently Disabled*. You are considered *Totally and Permanently Disabled* if you cannot work in any type of employment because of bodily injury or disease that is expected to last at least until you are age 65. Effective for *Disability Pension* applications submitted on or after January 1, 2018, the Trustees will only award a *Disability Pension* if you have a Disability Award from the Social Security Administration. Beginning January 1, 2022, a disability award from the Railroad Retirement Board will also be accepted. When you apply for a *Disability Pension*, you'll need to submit a copy of your Social Security Disability Award or Railroad Retirement Board disability award.

For Seasonal Employees Only

To be eligible for a *Disability Pension*, you must: be less than age 65; be *Totally and Permanently Disabled*; have 10 years of *Vesting Credit*; and have worked at least 350 hours of service in the 24 months before you became disabled.

You can retire with a *Disability Pension* if you:

- Are less than age 65 when you became Totally and Permanently Disabled;
- Have 10 years of *Vesting Credit* and at least one hour of *Covered Employment* on or after January 1, 2005 (Note: If you became permanently disabled before January 1, 2005 and have not worked in *Covered Employment* after 2004, the requirement is that you are *Vested*.); and
- Have worked at least 1,000 hours in *Covered Employment* in the 24 months before becoming disabled.

Recovering from a Disability

If you recover from your disability before you reach age 65, your pension will stop. Your future retirement benefits may be affected if overpayment occurs. Therefore, you should notify the SEIU Benefit Funds office within 21 days of your recovery. If you do not notify the Trustees of your recovery, any overpayments you received will be deducted from any future benefits paid by the Plan. In lieu of the offset, you may elect to repay the Plan benefits received after your recovery.

If you return to work covered by this Plan, your pension will be based on all of your years of service when you retire again.

If you begin receiving a **Disability Pension** and then you return to employment for a short time or to help in your recovery, you may continue to receive **Disability Pension** benefits under the Plan as long as the employment does not cause termination of your Social Security Disability Award or exceed 500 hours in any calendar year.

Disability Pension Amount

Unless you are covered under the **Default Schedule**, your **Disability Pension** is calculated the same way as the **Normal Retirement Pension**, and is not reduced for age, regardless of your age when your **Disability Pension** commences. For applications submitted on or after January 1, 2018, your **Disability Pension** is effective as of the later of:

- The first day of the seventh month following the date of disability onset as stated in your Social Security Disability Award or (for applications after January 1, 2022) Railroad Retirement Board disability award; or
- The first day of the sixth month prior to the month in which your application for a *Disability Pension* is filed with the SEIU Benefit Funds office.

Default Schedule – Disability Retirement Factors				
Age	Disability Reduction Factor		Age	Disability Reduction Factor
64	9.96%		46	82.17%
63	18.75%		45	83.56%
62	26.52%		44	84.82%
61	33.42%		43	85.99%
60	39.56%		42	87.05%
59	45.04%		41	88.03%
58	49.95%		40	88.94%
57	54.35%		39	89.77%
56	58.30%		38	90.53%

55	61.87%	37	91.24%
54	65.09%	36	91.88%
53	68.00%	35	92.48%
52	70.64%	34	93.04%
51	73.03%	33	93.55%
50	75.21%	32	94.02%
49	77.20%	31	94.46%
48	79.01%	30	94.86%
47	80.66%		

If you are covered under the **Default Schedule**, the amount of the **Disability Pension** will be the actuarial equivalent of the **Normal Retirement Pension**.

Pension Payment Options

When you retire, you select how your pension will be paid. To assist you in making a decision when you retire, the SEIU Benefit Funds office will provide you with a summary of your monthly pension under each payment option available to you. If you have a small benefit payment (as described on page 45), your benefit may be paid as a one-time single lump-sum payment.

If you are married when you retire, your pension is paid as a *50% Spousal Pension* without pop-up. This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your spouse receives 50% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life. You may elect one of the following payment options:

- 50% Spousal Pension with or without pop-up;
- 75% Spousal Pension without pop-up;
- 100% Spousal Pension with or without pop-up;
- 50% Joint and Survivor Pension with or without pop-up; and
- Straight Life Annuity, with or without a 60-month guarantee.

No spousal waiver is required to elect the **100% Spousal Pension** or **75% Spousal Pension** with your spouse as beneficiary. However, in order to elect the **Straight Life Annuity** or the **50% Joint and Survivor Pension** (with or without pop-up feature) with a beneficiary other than your spouse, both you and your spouse must formally reject the **50% Spousal Pension** without pop-up by completing and signing a waiver form, which acknowledges both the effect of the waiver and the designation of the non-spouse beneficiary. In addition, the waiver form must be witnessed by a notary public. The SEIU Benefit Funds office must have the completed and signed waiver form within the 180-day period before your benefit payments are scheduled to begin. You can get a waiver form from the SEIU Benefit Funds office. You or your spouse may revoke the waiver at any time before the first payment is made. It may not be changed, however, after payment has commenced.

If you are not married when you retire, your pension is generally paid as a *Straight Life Annuity*. This pension provides you with an unreduced monthly benefit for your lifetime. You may also elect the *50% Joint and Survivor Pension* with anyone.

If you have a Spousal Equivalent, you may elect the Straight Life Annuity, the 50% Joint and Survivor Pension, the 75% Spousal Pension, or the 100% Spousal Pension.

50% Spousal Pension

This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your spouse receives 50% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life. Your benefit is adjusted because it will be paid over two lifetimes.

The amount of the monthly payment will be reduced by the applicable factors from the table below, depending on the difference in age between you and your spouse, and whether you retire on a *Disability Pension*. The reduction for a *Disability Pension* reflects the difference in expected lifetimes from other pensions.

50% Spousal Pension Factors		
Non-Disability Pensions	Disability Pensions	
Multiply monthly pension benefit by 91%, plus 0.4% for each full year by which your spouse's age exceeds your age OR minus 0.4% for each full year by which your spouse's age is less than your age. This factor may not exceed 99%.	Multiply monthly pension benefit by 83%, plus 0.4% for each full year by which your spouse's age exceeds your age OR minus 0.4% for each full year by which your spouse's age is less than your age. This factor may not exceed 91%.	

For retirement with an Effective Date on or after January 1, 2005, the normal form of payment for married *Participants* is the *50% Spousal Pension* without pop-up. This means, if your spouse dies before you, your benefit will remain the same as before your spouse's death. If you choose the *50% Spousal Pension* with pop-up, then, if your spouse dies first, your benefit will "pop up" to the amount it would have been without the reduction for the *50% Spousal Pension*.

After the monthly benefit is reduced in accordance with the factors in the table above, the benefit is further reduced if you elect the pop-up option. If the Effective Date of your pension is on or after January 1, 2010, and you elect the pop-up, there will be an actuarial reduction to your benefit in order to pay for the pop-up feature on your benefit.

EXAMPLE J

Example of Adjustment for 50% Spousal Pension

From the prior examples, we know that Javier's early retirement benefit, payable at age 58 as a *Straight Life Annuity*, is \$321.06. Javier's spouse is three years younger than Javier. What is their *50% Spousal Pension* factor?

Factor = 91% minus (3 years X 0.4%) = 91% - 1.2% = 89.8%

89.8% X \$321.06 = \$288.31

If Javier and his spouse do not elect the pop-up feature, Javier's benefit is \$288.31, rounded up to \$288.50.

If Javier and his spouse elect the pop-up feature, Javier's benefit is reduced further to reflect the pop-up. Please note that payable benefit amounts are rounded up to the next whole 50 cents.

Factor = 99.14% (from the Pop-Up Factors Table)

99.14% X \$288.31 = \$285.83, rounded up to \$286.00.

75% Spousal Pension

This pension option is available for pensions commencing on or after January 1, 2009. It provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your spouse or **Spousal Equivalent** receives 75% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life. The **75% Spousal Pension** does not come with a pop-up option.

If you are married, you do not need your spouse's waiver of the **50% Spousal Pension** to elect the **75% Spousal Pension** with your spouse.

Because this pension is payable over two lifetimes, the amount of the monthly payment will be reduced by the applicable factor from the table below, depending on the difference in age between you and your spouse/*Spousal Equivalent* and whether you retire on a *Disability Pension*. The reduction for a *Disability Pension* reflects the difference in expected lifetimes from other pensions.

75% Spousal Pension Factors		
Non-Disability Pensions	Disability Pensions	
Multiply monthly pension benefit by 87%, plus 0.5% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age exceeds your age OR minus 0.5% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age is less than your age. This factor may not exceed 97%.	Multiply monthly pension benefit by 76%, plus 0.5% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age exceeds your age OR minus 0.5% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age is less than your age. This factor may not exceed 86%.	

EXAMPLE K

Example of Adjustment for 75% Spousal Pension

Using the example of Javier and his spouse, with Javier's spouse being three years younger than Javier, the **75%** *Spousal Pension* factor would be:

Factor = 87% minus (3 years X 0.5%) = 87% - 1.5% = 85.5%

85.5% X \$321.06 = \$274.51, rounded up to \$275.00

If you elect the **75% Spousal Pension** with your **Spousal Equivalent**, federal law limits the number of years that your **Spousal Equivalent** may be younger than you. The number of years your **Spousal Equivalent** may be younger than you depends on your age when you start receiving your pension.

The limitation in age difference does not apply if you elect the **75%** *Spousal Pension* with a spouse as the beneficiary. The Plan can advise you further on your choice of this option if you are trying to decide whether you may elect this option with your **Spousal Equivalent**.

Your age when you commence your pension benefit	The number of years your Spousal Equivalent may be younger than you
Age 70	19 years or less
Age 69	20 years or less
Age 68	21 years or less
Age 67	22 years or less
Age 66	23 years or less
Age 65	24 years or less
Age 64	25 years or less
Age 63	26 years or less
Age 62	27 years or less
Age 61	28 years or less
Age 60	29 years or less
Age 59	30 years or less
Age 58	31 years or less
Age 57	32 years or less
Age 56	33 years or less
Age 55	34 years or less

The following table shows you the maximum age differences:

For example, if you retire on an *Early Retirement Pension* and elect to start your pension benefit at age 60, the table above shows that you may not elect the **75% Spousal Pension** with a *Spousal Equivalent* who is more than 29 years younger than you. You can still elect a **50%** *Joint and Survivor Pension*, regardless of age.

100% Spousal Pension

This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit and, upon your death, your spouse receives 100% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life. For retirement after January 1, 2005, you may also elect this pension with your **Spousal Equivalent**.

You may also elect this pension with or without the pop-up. If you elected the **100% Spousal Pension** with pop-up and your spouse or **Spousal Equivalent** dies before you, your benefit will be adjusted to the full amount you would have received without the reduction for the **100% Spousal Pension** with the pop-up option.

If you are married, you do not need your spouse's waiver of the **50% Spousal Pension** to elect the **100% Spousal Pension** with your spouse as beneficiary.

Because this pension is payable over two lifetimes, the amount of the monthly payment will be reduced by the applicable factor from the table below depending on the difference in age between you and your spouse/*Spousal Equivalent* and whether you retire on a *Disability Pension*. The reduction for a *Disability Pension* reflects the difference in expected lifetimes from other pensions.

100% Spousal Pension Factors		
Non-Disability Pensions	Disability Pensions	
Multiply monthly pension benefit by 83%, plus 0.6% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age exceeds your age OR minus 0.6% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age is less than your age. This factor may not exceed 94%.	Multiply monthly pension benefit by 68%, plus 0.5% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age exceeds your age OR minus 0.5% for each full year by which your spouse's/ Spousal Equivalent's age is less than your age. This factor may not exceed 80%.	

After the monthly benefit is reduced in accordance with the applicable factors in the table above, the benefit is further reduced if you elect the pop-up option.

EXAMPLE L

Example of Adjustment for 100% Spousal Pension

Using the example of Javier and his spouse, with Javier's spouse being three years younger than Javier, the **100% Spousal Pension** factor would be:

Factor = 83% minus (3 years X 0.6%) = 83% - 1.8% = 81.2%

81.2% X \$321.06 = \$260.70

If Javier and his spouse *do not elect the pop-up feature*, Javier's benefit is \$260.70, rounded up to \$261.00. If Javier and his spouse *elect the pop-up feature*, Javier's benefit is further reduced to reflect the pop-up.

Factor = 98.40%

98.40% X \$260.70 = **\$256.53**, rounded up to **\$257.00**.

If you elect the 100% Spousal Pension with your Spousal Equivalent, federal law limits the number of years that your Spousal Equivalent may be younger than you. The number of years your Spousal Equivalent may be younger than you depends on your age when you start receiving your pension. The limitation under federal law for age difference does not apply if you elect your spouse as your beneficiary. The table below shows you the maximum age differences.

Your age when you commence your pension benefit	The number of years your Spousal Equivalent may be younger than you
Age 70	10 years or less
Age 69	11 years or less
Age 68	12 years or less
Age 67	13 years or less
Age 66	14 years or less
Age 65	15 years or less
Age 64	16 years or less
Age 63	17 years or less
Age 62	18 years or less
Age 61	19 years or less
Age 60	20 years or less
Age 59	21 years or less
Age 58	22 years or less
Age 57	23 years or less

Your age when you commence your pension benefit	The number of years your Spousal Equivalent may be younger than you
Age 56	24 years or less
Age 55	25 years or less

For example, if you retire on an *Early Retirement Pension* and elect to start your pension benefit at age 60, the table above shows that you may not elect the *100% Spousal Pension* with a *Spousal Equivalent* who is more than 20 years younger than you. You can still elect a *50% Joint and Survivor Pension*, regardless of age.

50% Joint and Survivor Pension (with anyone not your spouse as beneficiary)

This pension provides you with a reduced monthly lifetime benefit for you and, upon your death, your beneficiary receives 50% of the benefit you were receiving for the rest of his or her life. If you elect the **50% Joint and Survivor Pension** with pop-up and your beneficiary dies before you, your benefit would be adjusted to the full amount you would have received if you had not elected this option.

If you are married, both you and your spouse must formally reject the **50% Spousal Pension** without the pop-up feature by completing and signing the waiver form (which must be witnessed by a notary public).

Because this pension is payable over two lifetimes, the amount of the monthly payment will be reduced, based on the difference in age between you and your beneficiary. Please note that if your beneficiary is significantly younger than you, your benefit will be substantially reduced. You may contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office if you have questions about this pension.

Straight Life Annuity

This pension provides you with an unreduced monthly benefit for your lifetime, subject to reduction if you retire early.

If you elect a **Straight Life Annuity**, you may elect a 60-month guarantee of your benefit. The cost for this protection is paid by a reduction to your monthly benefit. Examples of the reduction are as follows:

60-Month Guaranteed Benefit Factors		
Age	Reduction Factor	
65	98.68%	
64	98.85%	
63	99.00%	
62	99.13%	
61	99.25%	
60	99.36%	
59	99.45%	
58	99.52%	
57	99.59%	
56	99.64%	
55	99.69%	

If you die before receiving at least 60 times your accrued monthly benefit at retirement (after any applicable adjustment for early retirement), then monthly payments continue to be paid to your beneficiary until the guarantee period expires.

EXAMPLE M

Example of Straight Life Annuity

Using Javier's example again, if Javier retired at age 58 and elected the *Straight Life Annuity* form of payment, he would receive a monthly benefit of \$321.50 for the rest of his life. This is the accrued benefit after reduction for early retirement (see Example I), rounded up to the next \$0.50.

If Javier elects the *Straight Life Annuity* with the 60-month guarantee, his benefit is \$319.52 (\$321.06 X 99.52%), rounded up to **\$320.00**.

If Javier were married, he would need his spouse's written consent to elect the *Straight Life Annuity* option.

Small Benefit Payment

Certain small benefit amounts may be paid as a single lump sum.

The Plan may pay the benefit to you (or your beneficiary) in a single lump-sum payment, and no spousal consent is required, if you:

- Retire, are eligible for the immediate payment of a benefit and the actuarial present value of your pension benefit is \$5,000 (\$7,000 beginning June 1, 2024) or less; or
- Stop working under this Plan, no contributions on your behalf have been payable to this Plan for at least one calendar year (January through December period) and the actuarial present value of your pension benefit is \$5,000 (\$7,000 beginning June 1, 2024) or less; or
- Die before retirement, and the actuarial present value of the benefit payable to your beneficiary is \$5,000 (\$7,000 beginning June 1, 2024) or less.

If the payment is payable to you and you have not yet reached **Normal Retirement Age**, the Plan will pay the above benefits as a single lump-sum payment only with your consent. Once you reach **Normal Retirement Age**, the Plan shall pay the above benefits to you as a single lump-sum payment.

When this benefit is payable to you, generally you may choose a direct transfer of the amount to another "eligible retirement plan," as defined by law, such as an individual retirement account (IRA) or another employer's tax-qualified plan that will accept the transfer. To make a direct transfer, you must complete the appropriate forms that are available from the SEIU Benefit Funds office. The Plan will notify you of your right to make such a direct transfer within the 90-day period before the date your benefits under the Plan are scheduled to begin. If you do not choose to make a direct transfer, this Plan will withhold 20% of the distribution for federal income tax from your single lump-sum payment, even if you receive the payment and transfer the payment to an IRA or another qualified plan within 60 days.

How Working After Reaching Retirement Age Affects Your Benefits

Before Your Pension Payments Begin

You are eligible to receive a monthly pension benefit as soon as you retire and file a completed pension application. To be considered retired, you must have separated from *Covered Employment* with any and all contributing employers as of your Effective Date.

Prior to age 65: Working more than 40 hours in a month causes your pension to be "suspended." This means your pension for that month will not be paid because you have chosen instead to continue to work.

At age 65: You have the choice to retire and then, if you return to work, your pension is not suspended. However, as explained in the section on page 46 on working after your pension payments begin, the pension payments made to you will count toward offsetting additional benefits you earn. Therefore, your pension will not grow as fast as it would have if you did not retire.

If you retire after *Normal Retirement Age*, you will receive a monthly benefit that is the greater of the following:

- All of your service up to the date you start your benefits; or
- Your benefit at *Normal Retirement Age*, adjusted by 1% for each month thereafter that you worked less than 40 hours in *Disqualifying Employment*.

If you work less than 40 hours in any month after *Normal Retirement Age*, but before commencing your pension, you will need to notify the Plan in writing so that the Fund can apply the 1% adjustment to your benefit per month for up to 60 months after *Normal Retirement Age*.

At age 70, you must commence your benefit whether or not you continue to work. If you do not apply for your benefit but the SEIU Benefit Funds office can locate you, the Plan will commence your payments as if you retired on a **50% Spousal Pension**.

After Your Pension Payments Begin

After you retire, if you return to work, your pension will be suspended for periods of *Disqualifying Employment*, and your benefits are affected as follows:

- If you are under Normal Retirement Age:
 - If you did not retire under the *Rule of 80* (years of age plus service equals 80 or more at retirement), and you work 500 or more hours in a calendar year after you retire, your pension will be suspended for each month thereafter that you work 40 or more hours;
 - If you are retired under the *Rule of 80* and work 750 or more hours in a calendar year, your pension will be suspended for each month thereafter that you work 40 or more hours.
 - If you are under age 65 and work within the above limits, your pension will grow provided that you work for an employer required to make contributions to this Plan on your behalf. Your pension will be recalculated each year (paid retroactive to January 1) to reflect any additional benefits earned during the prior year. If the above limits are exceeded, your pension will be suspended. The limits include hours you work in *Disqualifying Employment*. If your pension is suspended, you must notify the Plan in writing when you later retire again.
 - If you start receiving your pension before you attain *Normal Retirement Age*, you must notify the SEIU Benefit Funds office immediately if you return to work.
- In the calendar year that you reach *Normal Retirement Age*, and thereafter, your pension will not be suspended, regardless of how many hours you work. However, any additional benefit you earn for months in which you work more than 40 hours will be offset by the value of the pension payments you receive during the year. Additional contributions to the Plan on your behalf will cause your pension to increase only for the portion of the added benefit earned, if any, that is greater than the value of the pension payments you received during the year.
- In the calendar year that you reach age 70, and thereafter, your pension cannot be suspended. Annually, your pension will be increased to reflect any contributions made on your behalf, without any reduction for pension payments received.

Note: If your collective bargaining agreement calls for the employer to make contributions on a daily, weekly, monthly or shift basis, but does not specify the number of hours to be credited, a day is treated as eight hours, a week as 40 hours and a month as 167 hours of work. If your employer reports your time both as daily, weekly, monthly or shift of employment AND as actual hours worked, your actual hours worked shall be used for purposes of determining whether your benefit will be suspended.

Resuming Pension Payments After a Suspension

If your pension payments are suspended, you will be notified of the reason that your payments were suspended and what you need to do to resume your pension payments. You must notify the SEIU Benefit Funds office in writing when your **Disqualifying Employment** ends. Benefit payments will not begin until your notice is received. You must file a written request for benefits with proof that your employment has ended or that your employment was less than 40 hours per month.

Any overpayments made to you when your pension should have been suspended will be recovered. The Plan does this when you retire again, as follows:

- Before age 65, the Plan may withhold 100% of your monthly payments until the Plan recovers overpayments.
- After age 65, the Plan may withhold 100% of your first monthly payment, plus 25% of subsequent payments, if necessary, until the Plan recovers overpayments.

If you die before all payments are recovered, the Plan may withhold 25% of each payment made to your surviving spouse or beneficiary until all overpayments are recovered.

Recalculating Your Benefits After a Suspension

If you return to work and your pension is suspended, your pension benefit will consist of the sum of the following parts when it recommences:

- The amount of your previous pension payment, including any retiree increases that went into effect before your pension was suspended. You will not qualify for any additional retiree increases while your pension is suspended. Any changes to your current employer contribution rate do not change the amount of your previous pension payment.
- If your previous pension payment was calculated with a reduction for early retirement, each month of suspension will reverse one month of reduction for early retirement.
- Any contributions made to the Pension Fund on your behalf since your pension was last calculated will increase your benefit. This benefit amount will be adjusted for early retirement if you are still under age 65, and for the form of benefit that you elected.

Death Benefits

Naming a Beneficiary

It is important to have updated beneficiary information on file at the SEIU Benefit Funds office before you retire. You may name or change your beneficiary by properly completing the beneficiary designation form that is available from the SEIU Benefit Funds office anytime before you retire. Benefits will be paid only to the person (or legal entity) most recently and properly named by you. A beneficiary is properly designated when you complete and file a designation form with the SEIU Benefit Funds office. You cannot change your beneficiary after your benefits commence.

What You Should Do

It's important to have updated beneficiary information on file at the SEIU Benefit Funds office before you retire. You cannot change your beneficiary after your benefits commence.

If you are not married, you may designate any person or persons or legal entity (for example, a trust) as your beneficiary to receive eligible death benefits (if any) – as long as you designate your beneficiary before you retire. Your designated beneficiary must be a legal adult (as defined by the law where they live).

If you are married, you must designate your spouse as your beneficiary, unless you and your spouse sign the necessary waiver form, and the signatures are witnessed by a notary public. Your spouse must state in writing that he or she waives the right to be the beneficiary. Your spouse may waive the right for a particular person (or legal entity) to be the beneficiary or may give you the right to name or change the beneficiary as you see fit. You cannot change your beneficiary after your benefits commence.

If you are not married and name a beneficiary, and then later get married, the beneficiary designation is invalid unless it names your new spouse. If you name your spouse as beneficiary and later divorce, the beneficiary designation is invalid. In both cases, you must file a new form after the divorce or marriage, which can name your current or former spouse or anyone else, unless the designation is contrary to any *Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO)*. If you do not name a beneficiary or your beneficiary dies first, any benefits payable under the Plan will be paid to your surviving spouse or *Spousal Equivalent* or, if you are not survived by a spouse or *Spousal Equivalent*, to your estate.

Please remember that the age difference between you and your beneficiary determines how much your benefit will be reduced. For example, if your beneficiary is a child, your benefit will be reduced significantly. Remember, a child named as your beneficiary must be a legal adult as defined by the law where they live.

Applying for Death Benefits

To apply for death benefits, your spouse, *Spousal Equivalent* or beneficiary should follow the instructions under the Pension Application Process (. When the SEIU Benefit Funds office receives the completed forms and any other required information, benefits will begin as soon as administratively possible.

If You Die Before Your Pension Payments Begin

If you are **Vested** but have not yet begun your pension, your surviving spouse or **Spousal Equivalent**, provided that you have been married, a partner in a civil union or registered as a domestic partner for at least one year before your death, will receive a lifetime survivor's pension calculated as a **50% Spousal Pension**, with your spouse or **Spousal Equivalent** receiving 50% of your monthly pension amount.

Payment to Surviving Spouse

- If you die after age 55: The lifetime survivor's pension payments will begin on the first day of the month after the month in which you die (but no earlier than the month following receipt of your spouse's application), and include any adjustment for early retirement.
- If you die before age 55: The lifetime survivor's pension payments will generally begin on the first day of the month after you would have reached age 55 if you had lived, and include any adjustment for early retirement. Your spouse can also choose to begin receiving the payments as early as the first day of the month after the month in which you died (but no earlier than the month following receipt of your spouse's application), but the benefit will be actuarially reduced to take into account the fact that your spouse began receiving the benefit earlier.

Your surviving spouse may choose to defer the lifetime survivor's pension until a later date. However, your spouse cannot delay payments after December 31 of the year following the year in which you would have reached age $70\frac{1}{2}$ (age 72 if you were born on or after July 1, 1949), or December 31 of the year following the year of your death if you die after reaching age $70\frac{1}{2}$ (or age 72 if you were born on or after July 1, 1949).

What Your Beneficiary Should Do

It's important that your beneficiary contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office as soon as possible after your death.

Payment to Surviving Spousal Equivalent

Federal law requires the lifetime survivor's pension paid to a non-spouse beneficiary, such as your **Spousal Equivalent**, to start no later than the end of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which you die, regardless of your age at death. Your **Spousal Equivalent** can choose to begin receiving the payments as early as the first day of the month after the month in which you died (but no earlier than the month following receipt of your **Spousal Equivalent's** application). The benefit will be actuarially reduced if you die before age 55 to take into account the fact that your **Spousal Equivalent** began receiving the benefit earlier.

If you are **Vested** and die, your surviving spouse, **Spousal Equivalent** or beneficiary may be eligible for death benefits.

Your **Spousal Equivalent** must apply for the benefit to be effective. To apply for death benefits, your **Spousal Equivalent** should follow the instructions under the Pension Application Process (see page 18).

If You Die After Your Pension Payments Begin

If you die after your pension begins, your spouse or beneficiary may be eligible to receive benefits. If you were receiving a **50% Spousal Pension** or a **50% Joint and Survivor Pension** form of payment, your surviving spouse or beneficiary will receive 50% of your monthly benefit for the remainder of his or her lifetime. If you were receiving a **75% Spousal Pension** form of payment, your surviving spouse or **Spousal Equivalent** will receive 75% of your monthly benefit for the remainder of his or her lifetime. If you were receiving a **100% Spousal Pension** form of payment, your surviving spouse or **Spousal Equivalent** will receive 100% of your monthly benefit for the remainder of his or her lifetime.

If you were receiving your pension benefit in the form of a *Straight Life Annuity* with the 60month guarantee, and you did not receive your guaranteed amount of 60 times your accrued monthly benefit at retirement (after adjustment for early retirement and for the 60-month guarantee), your beneficiary will receive monthly payments until the balance of the guaranteed amount has been paid.

Administrative Information

Fund Trustees		
Union Trustees	Employer Trustees	
Megan Sweeney Chief Financial Officer SEIU c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	Edward J. Manko, RPA SCP/Group Manager, National Director c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	
Efrain Elias SEIU Local 1 c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	Christopher B. Bouvier Senior Vice President & Deputy General Counsel ABM c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	
Jaime Contreras Vice President SEIU Local 32BJ c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	Thomas LaMartina President, Projects Vixxo c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	
April Verrett President SEIU Local 2015 c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	John J. Sheridan Chairman L.J. Sheridan and Company c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	
David Huerta President SEIU/USWW c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	Frank A. Maxson FAMCO Consulting c/o SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650	

Plan Name: SEIU National Industry Pension Fund

Plan Number: 001

Employer Identification Number: 52-6148540

Plan Year: January 1 – December 31

Type of Plan: The Service Employees International Union National Industry Pension Plan is a retirement plan designed to provide income for you after you retire or become disabled, or for your survivors after you die. The Plan is a defined benefit plan, which means that the Plan provides an amount of income determined from a benefit formula.

Legal Document: This Summary Plan Description summarizes the written Pension Plan that is the legal document governing the SEIU National Industry Pension Fund. All of your rights and benefits are governed by the Pension Plan Document. If there are any differences between this Summary Plan Description and the Pension Plan Document, the Pension Plan Document governs. You may examine the Pension Plan Document at the SEIU Benefit Funds office or obtain a copy for yourself for a reasonable copying charge.

Plan Sponsor/Plan Administrator: The Plan is sponsored and administered by a Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees is responsible for setting policy, managing investments and administering the Plan in the interest of Plan *Participants* and beneficiaries. The Board of Trustees consists of employee and employer representatives. If you wish to contact the Board of Trustees by mail, you may use the address below:

Board of Trustees SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650 (202) 730-7500

It is the Plan Administrator's responsibility to see that questions are answered, that service and contribution records are maintained, that benefits are properly figured and paid promptly and that the Plan is operated in accordance with the legal documents governing it.

Agent for Service of Legal Process: The Plan's agent for service of legal process is:

Eunice Washington Executive Director and Counsel SEIU Benefit Funds 1800 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Suite 301 Washington, DC 20036--1216

Service of legal process may also be made on any Plan Trustee or the Board of Trustees at the address shown above.

Funding of the Plan: Participating employers pay the entire cost of the Plan by making contributions to the Fund. The amount of employer contributions and the employees on whose behalf contributions are made are determined by the provisions of the collective bargaining agreements.

Collective Bargaining Agreements: The Plan is maintained pursuant to collective bargaining agreements. You can obtain a copy of the collective bargaining agreement under which you are covered from your Local Union. On written request to the SEIU Benefit Funds office, you may obtain a copy of your collective bargaining agreement, a list of the employers sponsoring the Plan and information as to whether a particular employer participates in the Plan and if so, the employer's address. Your collective bargaining agreement, as well as other documents under which the Plan is maintained, are available for inspection at the SEIU Benefit Funds office.

Pension Trust Assets and Reserves: The employer contributions are held in a Trust and invested by the Board of Trustees and professional investment managers chosen by the Trustees. Pension Plan assets, including any investment earnings, are used to pay benefits and administrative expenses.

Assignment of Benefits: This Plan is intended to pay benefits only to you or your eligible survivors. Your benefits cannot be used as collateral for loans or assigned in any other way, except in connection with domestic relations orders issued by a court of law, or in certain situations in which a plan fiduciary commits a breach of fiduciary duty and is also a *Participant* in the Plan. A domestic relations order requires payment of alimony, child support or other marital assets, which could include all or a portion of your benefit from this Plan, to a spouse, former spouse, child or other dependent. You will be notified if such an order is received with respect to your benefits. Benefits also may be subject to levy imposed by the Internal Revenue Service.

No Guarantee of Employment: Your participation in the Plan is not a guarantee of your continuing employment.

Maximum Pensions: The Internal Revenue Service has established a maximum monthly pension that anyone can receive from a plan. While the maximum is quite high and will rarely apply, it is stated in the Plan's legal document. You will be contacted at retirement if the maximum affects you.

Authority of the Trustees; Discretion Regarding Benefits: Under the Trust Agreement creating the Pension Fund and the terms of the Pension Plan Document, the Trustees, or persons acting for them, have sole authority to make final determinations regarding any application for benefits. The Trustees also have sole authority over the interpretation of the Pension Plan, the Trust Agreement and any administrative rules adopted by the Trustees.

Benefits under this Plan will be paid only when the Board of Trustees (or persons delegated by them) decides, in the Trustees' sole and absolute discretion, that the *Participant* or beneficiary is entitled to benefits under the terms of the Plan. The Trustees' decisions in such matters are final and binding on all persons dealing with the Pension Plan or claiming a benefit from the Plan. If a decision of the Trustees is challenged in court, it is the intention of the parties to the Trust, and the Pension Plan provides that the Trustees' decision is to be upheld unless it is determined to be arbitrary or capricious.

Any civil action brought by a *Participant* or beneficiary under section 502(a) of ERISA must be commenced no later than three years following the earliest of:

- The date the *Participant* or beneficiary has exhausted these procedures;
- The date on which the *Participant* or beneficiary knew or should have known that they did not receive an amount due under the Plan; or
- Any such other date upon which the limitations period would commence under applicable law.

Any such civil action must be brought within the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, subject to the laws of the District of Columbia where not preempted by federal law.

Except as limited by federal law, the Trustees have the authority to increase, decrease or change benefits, eligibility rules or other provisions of the Pension Plan as they may determine to be in the best interests of Plan *Participants* and beneficiaries. They also have authority to terminate the Plan at any time.

Only the Board of Trustees is authorized to speak for or make commitments on behalf of the Plan. Representatives of the Union or any employer are not authorized to speak for the Plan.

The Pension Plan is maintained for the exclusive benefit of the Plan's *Participants* and their beneficiaries. All rights and benefits granted under the Plan are legally enforceable.

Plan Amendment and Termination: The Board of Trustees intends to continue the Pension Plan indefinitely, although it reserves the right to change or end the Plan at any time. The Board of Trustees may change or end the Plan by majority vote at a meeting of the Board of Trustees held for that purpose. You will receive notice if the Plan is changed or ended. The Plan would end automatically if every employer withdraws from the Plan as defined by law.

If the Plan ends, you would stop earning benefits. However, you would become **Vested** in all benefits you had earned up to the time the Plan ended, regardless of your service.

If the Plan ends, money in the Pension Fund, to the extent possible, would be used in the following order according to the priority required by any applicable law and the provisions stated in the Plan Document, to:

- Pay administrative expenses;
- Provide benefits to retired *Participants* and other beneficiaries receiving a pension;
- Provide benefits to any individuals under the Plan guaranteed under Title IV of ERISA;
- Provide *Vested* benefits; and
- Provide all other benefits under the Plan.

No funds can be returned to any employer. Benefits may be paid as soon as the Plan termination has been approved by government agencies, or payment could be deferred to a later time. The Board of Trustees, with government approval if applicable, will determine when benefits are to be paid.

Recovery of Overpayments: If you or your beneficiary are overpaid or otherwise paid in error, you must return the overpayment. The Board of Trustees will have the right to recover any benefit overpayments, including any overpayments made that were based on false or fraudulent statements, information or proof submitted, as well as any benefit payments made in error. Amounts recovered may include interest and costs. In the event you are overpaid, the Plan Administrator will request a refund. If the refund is not received, the amount of the overpayment will be deducted from future benefits, and/or a lawsuit may be initiated to recover the overpayment.

Incompetence of Retiree or Beneficiary: If you are receiving a pension or survivor benefit and you are unable to care for your affairs because of mental or physical incapacity, the Trustees may pay the benefits to any relative by blood or connection by marriage whom the Trustees deem to be a responsible representative, unless and until a guardian or other legal representative is appointed.

Violent or Criminal Conduct Resulting in a Participant's or Beneficiary's Death: If you initiate an act of violence that causes or contributes to the death of a Participant or beneficiary who is or may be entitled to benefits under the Plan, or if you are convicted of any crime that caused or contributed to the death of such a Participant or beneficiary, you will be ineligible to receive any benefits from the Plan payable due to the death of the Participant or beneficiary. Instead, the Plan will pay an actuarial equivalent lump sum to the Participant's or beneficiary's spouse, Spousal Equivalent or estate. The Trustees may waive the application of this rule if they determine in their sole discretion that there was no intention to cause the Participant's or beneficiary's death. Additionally, the Trustees may suspend payment of benefits while they determine in their sole discretion whether this rule applies.

For More Information

If you have a question about your pension benefits or need more information, you may contact the SEIU Benefit Funds office by:

- Calling toll-free: (800) 458-1010
- Writing to:

SEIU National Industry Pension Fund P.O. Box 22650 Lehigh Valley, PA 18002-2650

• Or visiting: <u>seiufunds.org</u>

Insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation

Your pension benefits under this multiemployer plan are insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC), a federal insurance agency. A multiemployer plan is a collectively bargained pension arrangement involving two or more unrelated employers, usually in a common industry.

Under the multiemployer plan program, the PBGC provides financial assistance through loans to plans that are insolvent. A multiemployer plan is considered insolvent if the plan is unable to pay benefits (at least equal to the PBGC's guaranteed benefit limit) when due.

The maximum benefit that the PBGC guarantees is set by law. Under the multiemployer program, the PBGC guarantee equals a *Participant's* years of service multiplied by: (1) 100% of the first \$11 of the monthly benefit accrual rate; and 75% of the next \$33. The PBGC's maximum guarantee limit generally is \$35.75 per month times a *Participant's* years of service. For example, the maximum annual guarantee for a retiree with 30 years of service would be \$12,870.

The PBGC guarantee generally covers:

- Normal and some early retirement benefits;
- Disability benefits if you become disabled before the Plan terminates; and
- Certain benefits for your survivors.

The PBGC guarantee generally does not cover:

- Benefits greater than the maximum guaranteed amount set by law;
- Benefits based on Plan provisions that have been in place for fewer than five years at the earlier of:
 - The date the Plan terminates; or
 - The time the Plan becomes insolvent;
- Benefits that are not Vested because you have not worked long enough;
- Benefits for which you have not met all of the requirements at the time the Plan becomes insolvent or terminates; and
- Non-pension benefits, such as health insurance, life insurance, certain death benefits, vacation pay and severance pay.

For more information about the PBGC and the benefits it guarantees, contact:

PBGC P.O. Box 151750 Alexandria, VA 22315-1750

You may also call the PBGC at (800) 400-7242. TTY/ASCII (American Standard Code for Information Interchange) users may call the federal relay service toll-free at (800) 877-8339 and ask to be connected to (800) 400-7242. Additional information about the PBGC's pension insurance program is available through the PBGC's website at <u>pbgc.gov.</u>

Your ERISA Rights

As a *Participant* in the Plan, you are entitled to certain rights and protections under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), as amended. ERISA provides that all Plan *Participants* are entitled to the following.

Receive Information About Your Plan and Benefits

You have the right to:

- Examine, without charge, at the Plan Administrator's office and at other specified locations, such as worksites and union halls, all documents governing the Plan. These include insurance contracts and collective bargaining agreements and a copy of the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series) filed by the Plan with the U.S. Department of Labor and available at the Public Disclosure Room of the Employee Benefits Security Administration.
- Obtain, upon written request to the Plan Administrator, copies of documents governing the operation of the Plan. These include insurance contracts and collective bargaining agreements and copies of the latest annual report (Form 5500 Series) and updated summary plan description. The Plan Administrator may make a reasonable charge for the copies.
- Receive a summary of the Plan's Annual Funding Notice. The Plan Administrator is required by law to furnish each *Participant* with a copy of this Annual Funding Notice.
- Obtain a statement telling you whether you have a right to receive a pension at *Normal Retirement Age* (age 65) and if so, what your benefits would be at *Normal Retirement Age* if you stop working under the Plan now. If you do not have a right to a pension, the statement will tell you how many more years you must work to get a right to a pension. This statement must be requested in writing and is not required to be given more than once every 12 months. The Plan must provide the statement free of charge.

Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries

In addition to creating rights for Plan *Participants*, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the operation of the employee benefit plan. The people who operate your Plan, called "fiduciaries" of the Plan, have a duty to do so prudently and in the interest of you and other Plan *Participants* and beneficiaries. No one, including your employer, your Union or any other person, may fire you or otherwise discriminate against you in any way to prevent you from obtaining a pension benefit or exercising your rights under ERISA.

Enforce Your Rights

If your claim for a pension benefit is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you have a right to know why this was done, to obtain copies of documents relating to the decision without charge, and to appeal any denial, all within certain time schedules.

Under ERISA, there are steps you can take to enforce the above rights. For instance, if you request a copy of the Plan Document or the latest annual report from the Plan and do not receive them within 30 days, you may file suit in a federal court. In such a case, the court may require the Plan Administrator to provide the materials and pay you up to \$110 a day until you receive the materials, unless the materials were not sent because of reasons beyond the control of the Plan Administrator.

If you have a claim for benefits that is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you may file suit in a state or federal court. In addition, if you disagree with the Plan's decision or lack thereof concerning the qualified status of a domestic relations order, you may file suit in federal court. If it should happen that Plan fiduciaries misuse the Plan's money, or if you are discriminated against for asserting your rights, you may seek assistance from the U.S. Department of Labor, or you may file suit in a federal court. The court will decide who should pay court costs and legal fees. If you are successful, the court may order the person you have sued to pay these costs and fees. If you lose, the court may order you to pay these costs and fees, for example, if it finds your claim is frivolous. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no legal proceeding may be filed in any court or before any administrative agency against the Fund, Plan or its Trustees unless all of the Plan's review procedures have been exhausted.

Assistance with Your Questions

If you have any questions about the Plan, you should contact the Plan Administrator. If you have any questions about this statement or about your rights under ERISA, or if you need assistance in obtaining documents from the Plan Administrator, you should contact the nearest office of the Employee Benefits Security Administration (EBSA), U.S. Department of Labor, listed in your telephone directory, or:

Division of Technical Assistance and Inquiries Employee Benefits Security Administration U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20210

You may also find answers to your Plan questions by contacting EBSA:

- Call (866) 444-3272;
- Send electronic inquiries to <u>askebsa.dol.gov;</u> or
- Visit EBSA's website at dol.gov/ebsa.

Appendix A: Special Rules for Groups That Joined This Plan Because of Plan Mergers

Over the years, several pension plans have merged with this Plan. The following describes the impact of mergers on the calculation of your benefits if you belong to a group that came into this Plan because of a merger.

Your accrued benefit in this Plan will never be less than your accrued benefit from your prior plan as of the date of the merger. In general, if you were a participant in a plan that merged with the National Industry Pension Fund, but have no service with National Industry Pension Fund after the merger, your benefits are determined according to the rules of your old plan prior to the merger.

The following sections describe the effect of particular mergers on the calculation of your benefits.

Building Service Employees Pension Plan

The Building Service Employees Pension Plan (BSEPP) merged with this Plan as of May 1, 1994. If you belong to a group that entered this Plan because of the merger on that date, your benefit is modified as follows:

- Pre-merger benefit: Generally, your BSEPP Future Service benefit as of the merger date is 2.25% of contributions made on your behalf through April 30, 1994, and your BSEPP Past Service benefit is \$2.25 for each year of BSEPP Past Service (the Past Service benefit may be somewhat higher for groups that were in the Plan prior to 1975). In addition, your BSEPP benefit as of the merger date (including both Past Service under BSEPP and Future Service under BSEPP) is increased by 40.8%.
- Contribution Formula: Your benefit under the Contribution Formula is the above amount plus the regular National Industry Pension Fund Contribution Formula applied to all contributions after the merger date. If you are eligible for the National Industry Pension Fund's 5.75% or 7.35% supplement, this supplement is also calculated on premerger benefit amounts.
- **Benefit Table Formula:** Your benefit under the Benefit Table Formula is the sum of the following:
 - Your pre-merger benefit as calculated above plus an adjustment to this amount for the increase in your *Applicable Average Contribution Rate* between the merger and December 31, 2007. This adjustment is as follows:
 - Your final contribution at the merger date is generally the average contribution rate for your highest 1,800 hours from October 1, 1992 through April 30, 1994.

- The percentage increase between the above rate and your *Applicable Average Contribution Rate* at December 31, 2007 is determined.
 - This percentage increase is multiplied by 0.725.
 - The resulting percentage is applied to increase your pre-merger benefit.
- The regular National Industry Pension Fund Benefit Table Formula applies to all service after April 30, 1994 through December 31, 2007. (Please note: If you have an accrued BSEPP benefit as of the merger date, the maximum number of post-merger *Pension Credits* that will be used in your calculation will be 24.)
- If you are eligible for the National Industry Pension Fund's 5.75% or 7.35% supplement, this supplement is calculated on pre-merger benefit amounts.

Medicare Supplement: This benefit applies to employees who were BSEPP participants as of May 1, 1994, or who have since become *Participants* of this Plan and have accumulated a specified amount (described below) of vesting service with a former BSEPP contributing employer through December 31, 2004, and retired effective on or before December 31, 2009 (on or before March 1, 2010, if you retired directly from active status). This benefit helps you pay for the cost of Medicare Part B coverage, and is paid as follows:

- The Medicare Supplement is paid each month you receive a monthly pension benefit under this Plan, you are age 65 or older (even if you retired before age 65) and you are enrolled in Medicare Part B. It is payable only to you and not to your spouse or beneficiary after your death.
- The maximum Medicare Supplement is \$54. If you were **Vested** as of April 30, 1994, or earned 10 **Vesting Credits** as of December 31, 2004, you will receive the full \$54 each month you receive a pension check.
- If you were not *Vested* as of April 30, 1994, and did not earn 10 *Vesting Credits* as of December 31, 2004, the monthly amount you will receive depends on the number of *Vesting Credits* you have earned as of December 31, 2004, as shown in the table below. Service after 2004 does not count toward eligibility for this benefit.

Medicare Supplement Benefit						
Number of Vesting Credits Required Through December 31, 2004	Medicare Supplement Amount					
Less than 5	0					
5	\$27.00					
5½	\$29.70					
6	\$32.40					
6½	\$35.10					
7	\$37.80					
7½	\$40.50					
8	\$43.20					

Medicare Supplement Benefit						
Number of Vesting Credits Required Through December 31, 2004	Medicare Supplement Amount					
81⁄2	\$45.90					
9	\$48.60					
91⁄2	\$51.30					
10	\$54.00					

Detroit Window Cleaning Division, Service Employees Local 79 Pension Fund

The Detroit Window Cleaning Division, Service Employees Local 79 Pension Fund merged with this Plan on January 1, 1984. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the merger on that date, your accrued benefit will be the greater of the following:

- The Benefit Table Formula based on your pre-merger and post-merger service; or
- Your accrued benefit at merger, plus the Contribution Formula benefit using post-merger contributions.

Jewelry Workers Division Pension Plan

The Jewelry Workers Division, SEIU, AFL-CIO Pension Plan merged with this Plan on January 1, 1984. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the merger and you were an active participant in the Jewelry Workers plan during 1983, your accrued benefits will be the greater of the accrued benefit under the regular rules of this Plan for all pre-merger and post-merger service, or the accrued benefit described below:

- Total contributions for *Future Service* for all years under both plans, multiplied by 1.76% (1.75% for contributions after December 31, 2009); plus
- A *Past Service* benefit, determined as follows:
 - The number of years of *Past Service*;
 - Multiply this amount by the ratio of total contributions for *Future Service* for all years under both plans, divided by all years of *Future Service* under both plans;
 - Multiply this result by 1.76% (a lower percentage applies if contributions were made on fewer than 72 months of service prior to your retirement).

Pension Plan for Service Employees of Michigan Race Tracks

The Pension Plan for Service Employees of Michigan Race Tracks merged with this Plan on April 1, 2000. If you participated in the Pension Plan for Service Employees of Michigan Race Tracks, the 7.35% supplement as described in the National Industry Pension Fund only applies to service and contributions beginning January 1, 2000 through December 31, 2003. Also, your pre-merger service does not count toward satisfying the *Rule of 80* (if you retired on or before December 31, 2009 and are eligible for the *Rule of 80*). Otherwise, your benefit is calculated under the regular National Industry Pension Fund rules. *Disability Pensions* require a date of disability after the merger.

Pittsburgh Building Employees Pension Plan

The Pittsburgh Building Employees Pension Plan merged with this Plan on January 1, 1991. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the Pittsburgh Building Employees Pension Plan merger with this Plan, your accrued benefit will be the greater of:

- Your accrued benefit under the Pittsburgh plan as of December 31, 1990, plus the amount determined under the National Industry Pension Fund for years of service after 1990, using the National Industry Pension Fund Benefit Table Formula for benefits earned through 2007, plus the Contribution Formula for benefits earned thereafter; or
- If, as of January 1, 1991, you reached at least age 50 or had at least 25 years of credited service, your accrued benefit under the Pittsburgh plan as of December 31, 1990, plus 2% of all contributions made on your behalf after December 31, 1990 (1.75% for contributions after December 31, 2009); or
- Your benefit under the regular National Industry Pension Fund Contribution Formula based upon all contributions made on your behalf for all periods of service, before and after the merger, except for service lost due to a *Permanent Break-in-Service*; or
- If one or more hours of contributions were made to this Plan on your behalf for work on or after January 1, 1997, your benefit using the National Industry Pension Fund rules for service earned under this Plan and the Pittsburgh Plan, using the National Industry Pension Fund Benefit Table Formula for benefits earned through 2007.

Retirement Plan of Service Employees Local 189

The Retirement Plan of Service Employees Local 189 merged with this Plan on July 1, 1997. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the merger on that date, your accrued benefit will be the greater of the following:

- \$72 for each year of service prior to the merger, plus your National Industry Pension Fund Contribution Formula benefit for service after the merger; or
- The National Industry Pension Fund Benefit Table Formula using service before and after the merger through 2007 (plus the Contribution Formula thereafter).

Local 189 Service Employees Miscellaneous Pension Plan

The Local 189 Service Employees Miscellaneous Pension Plan merged with this Plan on July 1, 1997. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the merger on that date, your accrued benefit will be the greater of the following:

- Your accrued benefit under the old plan as of the merger date, plus your National Industry Pension Fund Contribution Formula benefit for service after the merger; or
- The National Industry Pension Fund Benefit Table Formula using service before and after the merger through 2007 (plus the Contribution Formula thereafter).

St. Moritz Building Services Employees Pension Plan

The St. Moritz Building Services Employees Pension Plan merged with this Plan on December 1, 1995. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the merger on that date, the following rules apply to you:

- St. Moritz plan rules for vesting service before January 1, 1995; and
- St. Moritz plan rules for service credit for benefit accruals before July 1, 1989.

After the dates shown, the service and vesting rules of this Plan apply. Your credited service under the St. Moritz plan before July 1, 1989 is transferred to this Plan as *Future Service*.

Your benefit will be the greater of:

- Your years of *Future Service Pension Credit* under both this Plan and the St. Moritz plan, using the regular rules of the National Industry Pension Fund Benefit Table Formula for service through 2007, plus the Contribution Formula for benefits earned thereafter. However, you must receive at least \$9.50 in monthly benefits for each year of service with the St. Moritz plan for years before July 1, 1989; or
- Your benefit under the regular National Industry Pension Fund Contribution Formula for contributions made on your behalf only to this Plan (after July 1, 1989).

Service Employees International Union Local 49 Pension Plan

The Service Employees International Union Local 49 Pension Plan merged with this Plan on June 1, 2003. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the merger on that date, the following rules apply to you:

- Your accrued benefit is your pre-merger benefit, plus your benefit accrued using regular Plan rules for service from June 1, 2003 forward;
- Your pre-merger service with the Local 49 Plan does not count toward satisfying the *Rule of 80* in the National Industry Pension Fund;

- Your benefit will be no less than your benefit as of June 1, 2003 using the applicable optional form factors of the prior plan;
- The *Single Life Annuity* option in the prior plan came with the additional option of a 60month, 120-month or 180-month guarantee on benefit payments, after reduction of the payments to pay for the guarantee. The National Industry Pension Fund *Single Life Annuity* provides a 60-month guarantee option.

Window Cleaners, Local 48 Cleaning Contractors Pension Plan

The Window Cleaners, Local 48 Cleaning Contractors Pension Plan merged with this Plan on January 1, 1984. If you became a *Participant* of this Plan because of the merger on that date, your accrued benefit will be the greater of the following:

- The Benefit Table Formula based on your pre-merger and post-merger service; or
- Your accrued benefit at merger, plus the Contribution Formula benefit using post-merger contributions.

Appendix B: Benefit Table Formula

(Benefits at Various Contribution Rates)

Note: The Benefit Table Formula applies only to service prior to 2008.

Benefit Table Formula – Monthly Benefits

(Benefits at some contribution rates are shown in the table on the next page. Amounts in between those shown are calculated proportionally.) Please refer to the Plan Document for a complete table.)

Future and Past Service Monthly Benefit Table							
Applicable Average Contribution Rate	For For Service Service After Prior to 2004 and 2005		For Each Year of Past Service Pension Credit for Groups Entering Prior to 2005 Past Service Benefit Level (PSBL) =				
	Prior to 2008 For Each Year of Future Service Pension Credit	For Each Year of Future Service Pension Credit (and for PSBL=1)	2	3	4	5	6
\$0.05	\$2.01	\$2.23	\$1.83	\$1.43	\$1.03	\$0.63	\$0.31
\$0.10	\$4.02	\$4.47	\$3.66	\$2.86	\$2.06	\$1.25	\$0.63
\$0.15	\$6.03	\$6.70	\$5.50	\$4.29	\$3.08	\$1.88	\$0.94
\$0.20	\$8.05	\$8.94	\$7.33	\$5.72	\$4.11	\$2.50	\$1.25
\$0.25	\$9.92	\$11.02	\$9.04	\$7.05	\$5.07	\$3.09	\$1.54
\$0.30	\$11.80	\$13.11	\$10.75	\$8.39	\$6.03	\$3.67	\$1.84
\$0.35	\$13.67	\$15.19	\$12.46	\$9.72	\$6.99	\$4.25	\$2.13
\$0.40	\$15.55	\$17.28	\$14.17	\$11.06	\$7.95	\$4.84	\$2.42
\$0.45	\$17.29	\$19.21	\$15.76	\$12.30	\$8.84	\$5.38	\$2.69

\$0.50	\$19.04	\$21.15	\$17.34	\$13.54	\$9.73	\$5.92	\$2.96
\$0.55	\$20.78	\$23.09	\$18.93	\$14.78	\$10.62	\$6.46	\$3.23
\$0.60	\$22.52	\$25.02	\$20.52	\$16.02	\$11.51	\$7.01	\$3.50
\$0.65	\$24.13	\$26.81	\$21.98	\$17.16	\$12.33	\$7.51	\$3.75
\$0.70	\$25.74	\$28.60	\$23.45	\$18.30	\$13.16	\$8.01	\$4.00
\$0.75	\$27.35	\$30.39	\$24.92	\$19.45	\$13.98	\$8.51	\$4.25
\$0.80	\$28.95	\$32.17	\$26.38	\$20.59	\$14.80	\$9.01	\$4.50
\$0.90	\$31.91	\$35.45	\$29.07	\$22.69	\$16.31	\$9.93	\$4.96
\$1.00	\$34.86	\$38.73	\$31.76	\$24.79	\$17.81	\$10.84	\$5.42
\$1.10	\$37.54	\$41.71	\$34.20	\$26.69	\$19.18	\$11.68	\$5.84
\$1.20	\$40.21	\$44.68	\$36.64	\$28.60	\$20.55	\$12.51	\$6.26
\$1.30	\$42.89	\$47.66	\$39.08	\$30.50	\$21.93	\$13.35	\$6.67
\$1.40	\$45.58	\$50.64	\$41.53	\$32.41	\$23.30	\$14.18	\$7.09
\$1.50	\$48.26	\$53.62	\$43.97	\$34.32	\$24.67	\$15.01	\$7.51
\$1.60	\$50.94	\$56.60	\$46.41	\$36.22	\$26.04	\$15.85	\$7.92
\$1.80	\$56.30	\$62.56	\$51.30	\$40.04	\$28.78	\$17.52	\$8.76
\$2.00	\$61.67	\$68.52	\$56.18	\$43.85	\$31.52	\$19.18	\$9.59
\$2.20	\$67.02	\$74.47	\$61.07	\$47.66	\$34.26	\$20.85	\$10.43
\$2.40	\$72.39	\$80.43	\$65.95	\$51.48	\$37.00	\$22.52	\$11.26
\$2.60	\$77.75	\$86.39	\$70.84	\$55.29	\$39.74	\$24.19	\$12.09
\$2.80	\$83.12	\$92.35	\$75.73	\$59.10	\$42.48	\$25.86	\$12.93
\$3.00	\$88.48	\$98.31	\$80.61	\$62.92	\$45.22	\$27.53	\$13.76
\$3.20	\$93.83	\$104.26	\$85.50	\$66.73	\$47.96	\$29.19	\$14.60
\$3.40	\$99.20	\$110.22	\$90.38	\$70.54	\$50.70	\$30.86	\$15.43
\$3.60	\$104.56	\$116.18	\$95.27	\$74.36	\$53.44	\$32.53	\$16.27
\$3.80	\$109.93	\$122.14	\$100.15	\$78.17	\$56.18	\$34.20	\$17.10
\$4.00	\$115.29	\$128.10	\$105.04	\$81.98	\$58.92	\$35.87	\$17.93
\$4.20	\$120.65	\$134.05	\$109.92	\$85.79	\$61.66	\$37.54	\$18.77

\$4.40	\$126.01	\$140.01	\$114.81	\$89.61	\$64.41	\$39.20	\$19.60
\$4.60	\$131.37	\$145.97	\$119.70	\$93.42	\$67.15	\$40.87	\$20.44
\$4.80	\$136.74	\$151.93	\$124.58	\$97.23	\$69.89	\$42.54	\$21.27
\$5.00	\$142.10	\$157.89	\$129.47	\$101.05	\$72.63	\$44.21	\$22.10

Notes:

- 1. Benefit for service earned in 2005 through 2007 is 90% of the amount for *Future Service* earned before 2005.
- Past Service Benefit Levels are applicable only to service in groups that joined the Plan before 2005. For groups that join after 2004, the Past Service benefit amount is limited to 50% of the contribution rate during the new group's collective bargaining agreement in effect at entry, multiplied by up to two years of Past Service.
- 3. For benefit calculation purposes, the maximum amount of total *Pension Credits* (*Future Service + Past Service Pension Credits*) is 25.
- 4. For average contribution rates in between those shown on the above table, the benefit amount is calculated proportionally. For example, the benefit amounts for an average contribution rate of \$0.47 could be calculated from the amounts at \$0.45 and \$0.50 as follows:
 - a) The difference between the \$0.50 and the \$0.45 average contribution rate shown above is \$0.05.
 - b) The difference between \$0.47 and \$0.45 is \$0.02, which is 40% of \$0.05.
 - c) The benefit amount at \$0.47 is the amount at \$0.45 plus 40% of the difference between \$0.45 and \$0.50.
 - d) For example, for *Future Service* before 2005, the benefit amount at \$0.47 is:

\$21.15 - \$19.21 = \$1.94 40% X \$1.94 = \$0.78

\$19.21 + \$0.78 = \$19.99



National Industry Pension Fund

1800 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036-1216 (202) 730-7500 (800) 458-1010 <u>info@seiufunds.org</u> <u>seiufunds.org</u>